
Meeting papers

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint 
Committee

Wednesday 15 March 2017 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester





Date Published:7 March 2017     

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee

Wednesday 15 March 2017 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Laura Gibbard

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any pecuniary or personal interests by members.

Laura Gibbard

3  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 30 November 2016.

Laura Gibbard

4  GFIRST LEP UPDATE (Pages 7 - 10)

To receive a report on the delivery of the Growth Programme in the 
County, including Growth Deal 3. 

Mally Findlater

5  EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS (Pages 11 - 54)

To receive a progress report on work towards the formation of an 
Employment and Skills Board.

Pete Carr

6  GOVERNMENT INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY (Pages 55 - 60)

To update members on the relevance of the strategy for 
Gloucestershire, to review the Joint Committee’s draft strategy 
consultation response (REPORT TO FOLLOW), and to note for 
information the planned ‘Business’ response from the LEP 
(attached).

Nigel Riglar 
Claire Edwards 



    

7  NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE ASSESSMENT CONSULTATION 
RESPONSE (Pages 61 - 72)

To note the consultation response submitted by Gloucestershire 
County Council.

Nigel Riglar

8  BUSINESS RATE POOL (Pages 73 - 78)

To receive an update report on the Business Rate Pool and 
potential expenditure options for the Strategic Economic 
Development Fund.

David Stanley

9  FUTURE MEETING DATES 

To note that the Committee is due to meet on the following dates in 
2017:

Wednesday 21 June 2017
Wednesday 6 September 2017
Wednesday 29 November 2017

All meetings to start at 10am (this allows meetings of the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee to take place 
on the same day).

Laura Gibbard

Membership –  Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cllr Robert Vines, Cllr Paul 
James, Cllr Steve Jordan, Cllr Christopher Hancock and Cllr Steve Lydon
Mally Findlater and Dev Chakraborty

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Laura Gibbard, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324205/fax: 425850/e-mail: laura.gibbard@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Members are required to sign the attendance list.

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:laura.gibbard@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

- 1 - 

 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT 
COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee 
held on Wednesday 30 November 2016 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet 
Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester. 

 
 

PRESENT 
MEMBERSHIP: 

 

 Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE 
Cllr Paul James 
Cllr Steve Jordan 
Cllr Robert Vines 
 

Cllr Christopher Hancock 
Cllr Steve Lydon 
Pete Carr 
Adam Starkey 
 

Substitutes: Cllr Brian Robinson 
 

Apologies: Cllr Patrick Molyneux 

 
60. APOLOGIES  

 
Apologies were received from Cllr Patrick Molyneux. 
 
Cllr Brian Robinson substituted at the meeting for Cllr Molyneux. 
 

61. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were made.  
 

62. MINUTES  
 
Resolved 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2016 be approved as a 
correct record.  
 

63. GFIRST LEP UPDATE  
 
Pete Carr, Deputy Chief Executive of GFirst LEP, provided the Committee with an 
update on the delivery of the Growth Programme in the county.  
 
An overview of the status of projects going through the approval and funding 
process was provided, and it was highlighted that the A40 Benhall bus lane project 
was not being progressed. Members were also informed that, following a change in 
process, the GFirst LEP Investment Panel had started to review projects. The Metz 
Way project and A40 Over Roundabout Scheme had so far been reviewed by the 
Panel.   
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 2 - 
 

One member queried whether the funding for the A40 Benhall bus lane scheme 
would be reallocated. Pete Carr confirmed that the funding would remain available 
locally, however the outcome of the Growth Deal 3 submission would need to be 
known before it was decided where the funding would be best allocated. It was also 
highlighted that Gloucestershire County Council would continue to work with 
Stagecoach on other improvements to the A40.  
 
Members were made aware of the current project reporting figures. The out turn 
from the current Growth Deal programme was £18.499m, the actual cumulative 
total spend (including direct leverage/ match) was £21.8m, and the total leverage 
(direct and follow-on) declared by the projects was £64m.  
 
Members were informed that the ‘Annual Conversation’ with the Cities and Local 
Growth team from the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS) was taking place in December. A representative from Gloucestershire 
County Council would be in attendance in addition to the GFirst LEP Chair and 
GFirst LEP programme management staff. 
 
Pete Carr informed members that BEIS had confirmed that all LEPs and 
Accountable Bodies were required to carry out reviews and updates of their 
assurance frameworks by February 2017, and that they needed to be signed off by 
the Section 151 Officer. The Programme Management Group had already started to 
review the GFirst LEP’s Assurance Framework and would be discussed at the 
‘Annual Conversation’ meeting. 

It was explained to members that GFirst LEP was still in conversation with the 
Government regarding the amount of funding that would be received for Growth 
Deal 3. Members noted that the Government had applied three criteria to help in 
their decisions over funding allocations. It was also noted that there had been no 
clarification yet as to whether there would be any further Growth Deal rounds. 
 
One member queried why GFirst LEP did not score as strongly as some other 
areas under the private sector match funding criteria that the Government had 
applied. In response, it was explained that  the criteria for private sector match 
funding had changed during the bidding process so that match funding now needed 
to be confirmed at the start of the project. Pete Carr explained that this could be 
addressed in future through early conversations with project promoters and by 
looking at how other areas had achieved this. It was also noted that under the 
governance criteria, areas with metro mayors, combined authorities, and devolution 
deals already in place scored higher than GFirst LEP, and it was acknowledged that 
this Growth Deal round had been a more political process.  
   
It was queried how GFirst LEP would involve the Committee in its process for the 
allocation of Growth Deal 3 funds to projects. Pete Carr explained that the 
Government would determine the projects that would receive funding and the 
amount of funding each project would receive. The Committee would be informed of 
the allocations once the LEP Board had ensured it was comfortable to accept them. 
It was recognised that it was important for Committee members to be informed of 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 3 - 
 

the proposals so that they could be aware of the impact they would have on the 
county.  
 
One member asked for an update on the establishment of the Employment and 
Skills Board. Pete Carr explained that the LEP Board had considered the draft 
proposals for the Employment and Skills Board, which had made some 
recommendations, and that it was expected to be established in March 2017. Once 
it had been established, the Employment and Skills Board would work on 
developing a draft skills strategy. It was confirmed that the Employment and Skills 
Board would report to the LEP Board and to the GEGJC, and that once they had 
been drawn up, the papers for the Board would be made available to the 
Committee.  
 
The Committee noted the report. 
 

64. VISION 2050 AND FUTURE AMBITIONS WORK  
 
Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, 
Gloucestershire County Council, presented the Gloucestershire Ambitions 
Roundtable Workshop Report to the Committee. The Report was the final outcome 
from the challenge work that had been completed by the Committee.  
 
The Committee noted the report and it was agreed that the report should be 
submitted to the Vision 2050 Steering Group for their consideration.  
 
Resolved 
 

1. To note the report;  
 

2. To submit the report to the Vision 2050 Steering Group for their 
consideration.  
 

 
65. JCS POSITION STATEMENT AND TIMELINE  

 
Mike Dawson, Chief Executive, Tewkesbury Borough Council, provided the 
Committee with an update on the Joint Core Strategy position statement and 
timeline.  
 
It was explained that Tewkesbury Borough Council had resolved to consider a plan 
without the Twigworth strategic allocation, however it was committed to the JCS.  
 
The Committee was also informed  that the Ministry of Defence and the Defence 
Infrastructure Organisation had confirmed that a significant portion of the MoD site 
in Ashchurch would not be released for housing, which would impact on the JCS. 
 
It was explained that modifications to the JCS would be brought back to Gloucester 
City, Tewkesbury Borough and Cheltenham Borough Councils in the new year, with 
the aim for completion by the end of March 2017.  

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 4 - 
 

 
The Committee discussed the importance of joint-working between the partners 
within Gloucestershire on local strategic plans. It was reported that Leadership 
Gloucestershire would be considering this matter and members recognised that the 
associated work would need to be resourced to drive changes and develop 
collaborative working.  
 
It was highlighted that the Government’s intervention in the local strategic plans 
needed to be raised with them. 
 

66. BUSINESS RATE POOL  
 
David Stanley, Accountancy Manager, Stroud District Council, provided the 
Committee with an update on the Business Rate Pool. 
 
It was highlighted to members that the forecasted amount that would be retained 
within Gloucestershire as a result of pooling for 2016/17 had been revised down to 
£1.983m, following a meeting of the Gloucestershire CFOs in September 2016. 
Based on the current governance arrangements, the Strategic Economic 
Development Fund would receive around £200k.  
 
The Committee was informed that NHS Trusts were looking to be classed as 
charitable bodies and therefore qualify for mandatory charitable business rates 
relief of 80% of their business rates. Should the application be successful, it would 
have a significant impact on the Business Rates Pool.  
 
In response to a query, it was explained that should the NHS Trusts application be 
successful, appeals could be backdated by a 6 year period. 
 
The Committee noted that new rateable values (RV) would come into effect on 1 
April 2017, which had seen the RV for Gloucestershire increase by 6.1%. However, 
whilst there was a positive change in the RV across the county, the revaluation 
should be fiscally neutral. Members were also made aware that the new rating 
could lead to an increase in appeals activity.  
 
In response to a query as to when it would be anticipated that Tewkesbury Borough 
Council could return to the Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool, it was explained 
that Tewkesbury would be kept under review.  
 
It was recognised that a presentation at the next meeting on the new business rates 
retention system would be useful. 
 
It was also requested that a report regarding the opportunity for Gloucestershire to 
take part in a pilot for the new business rates retention system be drawn up and 
circulated with Committee members in order to seek their agreement for 
Gloucestershire’s involvement in the pilot.  
 
The Committee noted the report.   
 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 5 - 
 

67. GLOUCESTERSHIRE INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT PLAN  
 
Mike Dawson provided the Committee with a verbal update on the Gloucestershire 
Infrastructure Investment Plan.  
 
The Committee noted that two projects on the GIIP had been re-categorised: 
Cheltenham High Street had moved from Category D to a Category C, and 
Cheltenham Cyber Park had moved from Uncategorised to Category B. 
 
The Committee also noted that the GIIP would be updated to incorporate any 
changes made during the JCS modification process. 
 
It was explained that following the approval of the Local Transport Plan, an exercise 
to update the GIIP with any new projects was underway, which would be completed 
in early 2017. 
 
Members were informed that there were a number of significant funding 
opportunities that Gloucestershire had been made aware of relating to housing 
delivery. These included the Home Building Fund and the Capacity Fund. It was 
noted that the Senior Officers Group continued to progress projects and seek 
funding opportunities in support of Gloucestershire’s infrastructure requirements, 
including opportunities determined in the Autumn Statement.  
 
The Committee was informed that work was ongoing to make the infrastructure 
analysis and mapping tool, which was demonstrated at the previous Committee 
meeting, publically available.  
 
 

68. FUTURE MEETING DATES  
 
The Committee noted the meeting dates for 2017.  
 
 

 
CHAIRPERSON 

 
Meeting concluded at 12.00 pm 

 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 3

GFirst LEP Update for GEGJC meeting March 2017

Prepared by Mally Findlater (Programme Manager GFirst LEP)

Gloucestershire Growth Deal

a) Current project funding

The current status of the projects that are going through the approval and funding process is as follows:

Stage of Process Project/s
Outline Business Cases 
Approved

All

Conditional funding letters 
issued

All

Due diligence commenced 17 projects: GREEN; STEM projects x 4; airport; Blackfriars; Cyber 
Skills; Growth Hub expansion; Growth Hub Network; Berkeley 
Bridges; Cinderford spine road; RAU rural innovation centre; 
Gloucester Central Transport Hub; Metz Way; A40 Benhall bus lane; 
A40 Over Roundabout

Due diligence completed 17 projects: GREEN; STEM projects x 4; airport; Blackfriars; Cyber; 
Growth Hub expansion; Growth Hub Network; Berkeley Bridges; 
Cinderford spine road; RAU rural innovation centre; Gloucester 
Central Transport Hub; Metz Way; A40 Benhall bus lane; A40 Over 
Roundabout

Due diligence completed but 
project not being progressed

1 project: A40 Benhall bus lane

GFirst LEP Investment Panel 
review of project due 
diligence findings and 
recommendation to the LEP 
Board

2 projects, 
Metz Way/Abbeymead Avenue (Sept 2016)
A40 Over Roundabout (November 2016)

GFirst LEP Board approval for 
funding agreement

16 projects: GREEN; STEM projects x 4; airport; Blackfriars; Cyber 
Skills; Growth Hub Expansion; Growth Hub Network; Berkeley 
Bridges; Cinderford spine road; RAU rural innovation centre; 
Gloucester Central Transport Hub; Metz Way/Abbeymead Avenue; 
A40 Over Roundabout

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Page 2 of 3

b) Project reporting (mostly Q2 16/17, Q3 figures being collated)

Current figures are reported alongside figures in brackets, which are those reported at the previous 
GEGJC meeting:

 the out turn from the current Growth Deal programme to date is £19.01m. Significant outturn 
planned for Q3/4 forecast for 16/17 £31.9m with significant spend on GCTH, Blackfriars, 
Cinderford and Growth Hub.

 the actual cumulative total spend (including direct leverage/match) is £23.11m (prev £21.8m) 

 Forecast Direct Match funding declared to date £38.41m.

 the total leverage (direct and follow-on) declared by the projects (ie includes some committed 
but not yet spent) is £64m (no change from previous report but several projects close to 
confirming, e.g. Airport another new hangar, Blackfriars student accommodation c£20m)  

 Jobs – DIRECT jobs to date 508 associated directly with projects. Wider jobs impacts to be 
assessed periodically.

In future, more detailed reporting will be made available to the Joint Committee in addition to this 
summary. The format is being agreed, and will be consistent with the data provided to the LEP Board.

c) Assurance Framework additional update and refresh
The local assurance framework has been updated and re-issued so that we are now complying with the 
revised government guidance issued in Nov 2016 (see link).

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567528/161109_LEP_
Assurance_Framework.pdf

the updated Assurance Framework can be found at :-

http://www.gfirstlep.com/Home/Assurance-Framework/?Result=1 

d) Further refinements to our Growth Deal programme management processes
Following a restructure at GFirst LEP in December 2016, the arrangements for contacts with 
projects and representation at Board, project or steering group level have been refreshed and 
streamlined. Where a project is strategically important, there will be a Board member 
nominated to take a particular interest and report back to the LEP Board.

e) LEP Annual Conversation with BEIS (December 2016)
GFirst LEP had an extremely successful meeting, forming the annual review of progress to date. 
BEIS representatives were very complementary about both the programme management of 
Growth deal funding and the LEP’s strategic involvement locally and nationally. They were 
particularly interested in the 2050 visioning work.

Page 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567528/161109_LEP_Assurance_Framework.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567528/161109_LEP_Assurance_Framework.pdf
http://www.gfirstlep.com/Home/Assurance-Framework/?Result=1


Page 3 of 3

f) Growth Deal Round 3 
Government announced the Gloucestershire GD3 allocation on 23.02.17. They  have allocated £29.13m 
to GFirst LEP in the latest round of Growth Deal funding, which is considerably higher than we might 
have expected. This round of Growth Deals has been the most competitive yet; more than three times 
over-subscribed with high-quality proposals. 

 This is an excellent result – based on previous rounds we could have expected £16 million. Our per-
capita rate compares with big cities like Manchester and Liverpool, demonstrating the strength of the 
case made, our performance to date and the links to local and national priorities. 

Government reviewed our portfolio, and decided on an allocation that would enable us to deliver the 
top three prioritised projects in our submission. In particular, Government is keen to support the Cyber 
Business Park as it fits with national priorities. This means that our total Growth Deal allocation has now 
topped £100m, at £106.6m.

Projects funded:
Longford Housing: £4.53 million
Cyber Park: £22 milliion
Forest of Dean Campus: £2.6 million

g) Growth Deal programme management

Work is underway to re-profile the annual and cumulative expenditure of Growth Deal. Although there 
has been an underspend in 2016 /17, (circa £4m) this is being managed collaboratively by GFirst and the 
accountable body. In 17/18 the cumulative underspend will recover considerably. This situation is being 
discussed with BEIS, and is not the subject of undue concern.

Mally Findlater

02/03/17

Page 9

http://gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=380


This page is intentionally left blank



UPDATE ON THE EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS BOARD FOR 
GEGJC

AGENDA NO: 

Meeting Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee (GEGJC) 

March 15th 2017

Report author Pete Carr
01452 583850
Pete.Carr@gloucestershire.gov.uk and Peter.Carr@gfirstlep.com

Background 
documents

Skills Policy for Gloucestershire discussed at GEGJC in March 2016

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
background 
documents

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=725&MId=
8207&Ver=4

Main consultees Prospective employer members of the Employment and Skills Board (ESB) 
and prospective employment, education and skills provider members of the 
ESB.

Planned dates Consultations with GEGJC and employment, education and training 
providers in March 2017. Further planned dates in main body of the report.

Purpose of report To update the GEGJC members on progress to date and next steps with 
the Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board.

Recommendations

1. To note the update on the establishment of the Gloucestershire 
Employment and Skills Board and, as part of the next steps, 

2. To meet with District Councils to establish any specific employment and 
skills needs they would like taken into account by the Employment and 
Skills Board.

Reasons for 
recommendations

 To enable the further development of and establishment during May/June 
2017 of the Employment and Skills Board.

Resource 
Implications

Gloucestershire County Council is investing over £100k over two years in to 
establishing the Employment and Skills Board. Wider resource needs are 
currently being assessed.

Page 11

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Pete.Carr@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Peter.Carr@gfirstlep.com
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=725&MId=8207&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=725&MId=8207&Ver=4


MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

Progress in establishing the Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board – Update for 
GEGJC, Joint Scrutiny Committee and GFirst LEP Board March 2017

1. Overall context and approach
Please see the diagram accompanying this update Diagram 1 – Employment & Skills 
Board and context overview

2. Progress to date

2.1 Staffing: Pete Carr has been seconded from GFirst LEP to Gloucestershire County 
Council as Lead Commissioner – Employment and Skills to take forward the 
establishment and operation of the Employment and Skills Board. He started this 
work, along with managing the Adult Education provision in the County in February 
2017, on secondment to GCC for four days per week. Kathryn Wagstaff, employed 
by University of Gloucestershire on behalf of the Strategic Alliance, has been 
working on the evidence base for the Employment and Skills Board (ESB) and it is 
hoped that the Alliance can be persuaded to allow some of Kathryn’s time to be 
spent supporting the ESB. Further staffing resource to act as secretariat for the 
ESB and to prepare/commission specific research is being discussed within GCC.

2.2 Budget: GCC is investing over £100k over two years into establishing the 
Employment and Skills Board through officer support, research and analysis but, as 
yet, there is no separate budget for the ESB so resources are being sought from a 
number of sources including GCC, GFirst LEP, Strategic Alliance. Initially, the 
majority of the budget requirements for the ESB will be: staffing to act as secretariat 
for the ESB; research costs in order to investigate and report on the various strands 
of activity that the ESB determine as highest priority in 2017-18; preparation of the 
skills strategy for Gloucestershire; preparation and delivery of the action plan/s 
resulting from the skills strategy and subsequent ESB decisions.

2.3 Evidence base for the ESB:

2.3.1 Update of LEP Skills Statement: The initial Skills Statement was 
prepared as part of GFirst LEP’s work on the Strategic Economic Plan 
(SEP) that was published in March 2014. Given the changes in the 
economy and in skills provision since then, it was decided an update was 
required and that this would form part of the evidence base to be 
considered by the Employment and Skills Board. The updated Skills 
Statement was completed in February 2017 and is available with this 
update (please see Gloucestershire LEP Area Skills Statement 2016 )

2.3.2  Gloucestershire business survey: This is in development and further 
updates will be provided. The intention is to use the findings from the 
survey to provide local detail and evidence to support/refute the national 
employment and skills data/other evidence. 

Page 12



2.3.3 Other sources of information for the ESB: Pete Carr and Kathryn 
Wagstaff are mid-way through a review of the free and paid-for 
information sources needed to inform the ESB including national and local 
research and analysis, labour market information, Skills Funding Agency 
(SFA) data, etc. The aim is to be able to provide the ESB with a clear 
understanding of what is available and how it can be used to inform 
decisions/actions.

2.3.4 Draft Terms of Reference: These have been prepared, shared with 
GEGJC, GCC, the GFirst LEP Board and with prospective ‘supply’ side 
members of the Employment and Skills Board. Feedback from GCC and 
the ‘supply’ side is being taken into account to prepare the final version in 
March 2017. The current draft is available with this update GESB Draft 
ToR for discussionv3

2.3.5 Prospective membership of the ESB: AMEO Consultants have spoken 
to prospective ‘demand side’ (employer) representatives of the ESB and 
these employers will be invited to apply to join the ESB when the online 
webform is completed in March. Similarly, Pete Carr and Kathryn 
Wagstaff have had discussions with prospective ‘supply side’ (education 
and training provider) representatives in order to help them decide who 
they would like to represent them on the ESB. These prospective 
representatives will also be invited to apply for a position on the ESB in 
March.

2.3.6 Sub-Group of the ESB to provide governance for Adult Education in 
Gloucestershire: The intention is to set up a sub-group of the ESB to 
provide governance for this. The current arrangement is an internal 
governance model within GCC.

3. Next steps

March: Invite prospective representatives to apply to become ESB members; review 
applications; confirm appointments; finalise secretariat responsibilities and workload; 
finalise reporting arrangements from ESB to GFirst LEP Board and GEGJC.

April and May: Pete Carr to meet with District Councils to establish any specific 
employment and skills needs they would like taken into account by the ESB and who 
best to liaise with over District employment and skills matters; first meeting of ‘shadow’ 
ESB to induct members, review evidence base and fill any ‘gaps’ in representation on 
the ESB.

June: First meeting of full ESB to agree skills plan, develop skills strategy, agree 
priorities for 2017-18 work plan

4. Other important developments in Employment and Skills for the GEGJC to 
be aware of:

Page 13



4.1 Apprenticeship Levy – The Department for Education and the Skills Funding 
Agency (SFA) are encouraging large employers to sign up and register for the 
apprenticeship service, in readiness for the launch of the apprenticeship levy on 6 April 
2017. The apprenticeship service is an online digital system that has been set up to 
support the apprenticeship levy.

The levy will require employers, with a wage bill of over £3 million a year, to pay 0.5% 
of their wage bill into the apprenticeship service, to encourage them to invest into 
apprentices. Public sector employers with over 250 staff will be expected to have 2.3% 
of their workforce undertaking apprenticeships between 2017 and 2020.

4.2Industrial Strategy – Skills is one of the ten ‘pillars’ in the consultation. The Senior 
Officers Group is co-ordinating a County-wide response on this and skills feedback 
from GCC, GFirst LEP and other stakeholders will be included. The Industrial 
Strategy links closely with the Post-16 Skills Plan and the recent additional 
information on Institutes of Technology (IoT). Further discussions will take place 
with those interested in establishing an IoT in the county, including SGS College.

4.3Post-16 Area review – This involved Gloucestershire College, Cirencester College 
and Hartpury College as well as the colleges in Swindon and Wiltshire. It did not 
include SGS College as they were included in the earlier West of England Area 
Review. The Gloucestershire, Swindon & Wiltshire Area Review was completed in 
February 2017 and we are now awaiting publication of final report in March/April 
2017.

4.4 Growth Deal 3 – The main skills-related project to be funded through GD3 is 
Gloucestershire College’s Cinderford campus. The funding will enable the 
‘funding gap’ to be filled and building work to commence on this significant 
project.

4.5  ESF-funded employment and skills projects – The employment and skills 
priorities articulated in the Gloucestershire ESIF Strategy are now all underway. The 
two most recent projects are the apprenticeship support project and the 
entrepreneur skills project, both contracted in early March via the Skills Funding 
Agency. These join the GEM social inclusion and employment project being 
delivered by GCC, The Gateway Trust and a wide group of delivery partners, the 
employability project being delivered by learndirect, the EDGE project exploring 
ways to make work experience more effective with SMEs which is delivered by SGS 
College and delivery partners, the two skills support for the workforce projects 
delivered by Serco and delivery partners.

4.6  Careers Enterprise Company projects – GFirst LEP is leading on establishing 
the enterprise advisers network in Gloucestershire schools and delivering one of the 
two mentoring projects in the county.

4.7  Improving Lives: The Work, Health and Disability Green Paper – Vikki Walters 
at GCC has led a consultation with a wide range of local stakeholders to prepare a 
county-wide response to this and this in turn has provided GCC and GFirst LEP with 
significant insights into the employment and skills of disabled people.

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apprenticeship-levy-how-it-will-work/apprenticeship-levy-how-it-will-work
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/manage-apprenticeship-funds


4.8Work and Health Programme – GCC and Gfirst LEP have met with the contractors 
that are on a framework to prepare proposals to deliver the Work and Health 
Programme (WHP) that will be procured shortly by the Department of Work and 
Pensions across the Southern Region which encompasses Gloucestershire. The 
programme is to replace the current Work Programme and Work Choice provision 
that support individuals into work. WHP will focus on those with complex barriers to 
work including those with Health/Disability issues (Employment Support Allowance) 
or Long Term Unemployed 2yrs+ (Job Seekers Allowance).

The shadow and full Employment and Skills Board will be made aware of all of the 
above developments and supplied with additional details as required. Additionally, GCC 
and GFirst LEP are reviewing options to prepare and publish a quarterly employment 
and skills update to keep a wide range of stakeholders up to date and enable them to 
engage further with the employment and skills priorities in the County.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Diagram 1 – Employment & Skills Board and context overview

GFirst LEP GEGJC
TIME RESOURCE

Dates of meeting 
TBC

Employment & Skills 
Board

GCC/PC

Evidence to be 
ready end of March EVIDENCE

KW with the 
agreement of 

SA

TBA by Board STRATEGY
Needs to be 

identified

RE
V

IE
W

 P
RO

CE
SS

TBA by Board PLAN
Needs to be 

identified

SE
CR

ET
A

RI
A

T/
RE

SE
A

RC
H

 T
O

O
LS

 &
 T

O
 F

U
N

D
 P

RO
JE

CT
S

RE
SO

U
RC

ES
/F

U
N

D
IN

G

ST
RA

N
D

 1
 –

 E
G

 
CE

IA
G

ST
RA

N
D

  2
 –

 E
G

 
PR

O
G

RE
SS

IO
N

 
IN

CL
 F

SM

ST
RA

N
D

 3
 –

 E
G

 
W

O
RK

 
EX

PE
RI

EN
CE

ST
RA

N
D

 4
– 

 E
G

 
M

A
TC

H
IN

G
 S

U
PP

LY
 

A
N

D
 D

EM
A

N
D

ST
RA

N
D

 5
 –

  E
G

 
N

EE
TS

 &
 O

TH
ER

 
G

RO
U

PS
 

March 2017 v3

POST 16 SKILLS PLAN

INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY
Repo
rting

Repo
rting

SE
P

AREA
REVIE
W

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE LEP AREA  
SKILLS STATEMENT 
 
2016 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FINAL VERSION 

  

Page 19



2 
 

 
 
Contents 
 
1. Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Vision .............................................................................................................................. 5 

3. Gloucestershire’s Labour Market context ......................................................................... 6 

4.        Further information .........................................................................................................30 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Produced: December 2016  
Published: February 2017 
Next review: December 2017 

 
 

  

Page 20



3 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

This report is a refresh of the work the Marchmont Observatory conducted in March 20141. 

Since the Marchmont report was written there have been a number of developments; the 

Strategic Economic Plan (SEP)2 for the County has been adopted, apprenticeship reform, Brexit 

and the Governments Post 16 Skills plan to name just a few.  

This document has been produced by the Strategic Alliance. The Structure of this report roughly 

replicates the Marchmont report for ease of comparison. The purpose of this Strategic Alliance 

report is to create a document of common understanding for all parties interested in skills in 

Gloucestershire.  

Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) have been given a clear task by the Government to 

provide the strategic leadership to set economic priorities and create the right environment for 

business and growth3. GFirst the LEP for Gloucestershire, role is to drive sustainable economic 

growth in the county, and by doing so, create jobs and business opportunities4.  

At GFirst, the Local Enterprise Partnership for Gloucestershire the Board have committed to the 

following vision: 

‘By 2022, Gloucestershire will have world class companies, a diverse businesses portfolio and a 

reputation for starting and growing great businesses’  

Key to achieving this is the LEPs skills objective of creating ‘a highly employable and 

economically productive population’. Part of the skills vision is to ensure that the County 

produces talented people with the skills businesses need. GFirst has committed to: 

 Develop a strong partnership between education and business to support bridging the 

skills gap 

 Equip students with the skills that businesses need; and provide careers opportunities 

for local skilled talented individuals. 

An important starting point is a shared understanding of the employment and skills needs based 

on a clear evidence base on which to make decisions, with an emphasis on understanding the 

needs of local employers. The evidence underpinning this Statement allows all interested 

parties to develop a picture of employer need in the Gloucestershire LEP area and compare that 

                                                
1
 http://www.gfirstlep.com/gfirst-LEP/Our-Priorities/Our-Vision/  

2
 http://www.gfirstlep.com/gfirst-LEP/Our-Priorities/Our-Vision/  

3
 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/32076/cm7961-local-growth-white-paper.pdf  

4
 http://www.gfirstlep.com/gfirst-LEP/About-Us/Overview/  

Page 21

http://www.gfirstlep.com/gfirst-LEP/Our-Priorities/Our-Vision/
http://www.gfirstlep.com/gfirst-LEP/Our-Priorities/Our-Vision/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/32076/cm7961-local-growth-white-paper.pdf
http://www.gfirstlep.com/gfirst-LEP/About-Us/Overview/


4 
 

with the skills of the current workforce and the provision of skills and education for the future 

workforce.   

Purpose of the Statement 

The Gloucestershire LEP Area Skills Statement:  

 sets out the skills needs of the Gloucestershire area to enable discussion and action;  

 allows national and European funding to be effectively targeted on local priorities;  

 can be used as a basis for ensuring that publicly-funded provision and private 

investment in skills reflect local labour market requirements;  

 provides a baseline of information to inform the direction of the County’s Employment 

and Skills Board. 

Evidence base 

The research and analysis for the Statement was carried out between August 2016 December 

2016 and draws together information from:  

 The Draft Economic Summary for Gloucestershire (Dec 2016) by the Strategic Needs 

Analysis Team, Gloucestershire County Council. 

 An analysis of a range of data sources, including forecasts from Cambridge Economics 

(LEFM) provided by Gloucestershire County Council.  

 Data on from NOMIS and learning provision made available by the Skills Funding Agency 

(SFA). 

 A range of reports on Key Sectors which draws on a wide range of evidence from Sector 

Skills Councils (SSCs) and the UK Commission for Employment and Skills (UKCES), 

forecasting data and supply-side data.  

 And data from recognised sources such as Experian and EMSI. 

Information has come from many different sources and as a consequence is from different 

timelines, this is unfortunate but cannot be avoided due to the publication dates. Wherever 

possible the most up to date UK Government data has been used. 

  

Page 22



5 
 

2. VISION 

Gloucestershire has a prosperous and resilient economy set within a highly attractive natural 

environment, which offers a high standard of living for local residents. GFirst LEP developed a 

vision for growing Gloucestershire, that by 2022, the county will have ‘world class companies, a 

diverse business portfolio and a reputation for starting and growing great businesses’. In the 

SEP the LEP has committed to providing a highly employable and economically productive 

workforce that meets the needs of local business, particularly in high value growth sectors. 

GFirst further commits that it will deliver an integrated approach to stimulating the demand for 

and planning skills provision from school, college and university leavers. This will enable all 

interested parties to better meet the needs of industry by providing the right number of places in 

the right skills areas at the right level and so ensure industry in Gloucestershire minimises skills 

gaps5. 

The Government recently (July 2016) launched the Post 16 Skills Plan6 where it shared the 

vision to reform the skills system. The Government recognises that there is a need to support 

young people and adults to secure a lifetime of sustained skilled employment and meet the 

needs of our growing and rapidly changing economy. The Government wants to improve quality 

of education and student choice. The Governments vision is one shared by the Strategic 

Alliance (SA)i, a partnership between the University of Gloucestershire, Gloucestershire College 

and South Gloucestershire and Stroud College.  

The Strategic Alliance aims to raise the quality, range and accessibility of higher education in 

Gloucestershire and the West of England. By doing this through a better integrated higher 

education offer for the area underpinned by a joint higher education strategy mirrors the 

Government’s stance of wanting to improve the quality of education and the student’s choice. 

  

                                                
5
 p21 of the GFirst SEP 2014 

6
 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/536043/Post-16_Skills_Plan.pdf  

Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/536043/Post-16_Skills_Plan.pdf


6 
 

3. GLOUCESTERSHIRE’S LABOUR MARKET CONTEXT  

The latest figures published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 

(OECD)7 in December 2016 reveal that the UK is climbing the world rankings in both reading 

and science. This year's report, which has a science focus, revealed that the country has 

climbed from 21st place in 2012 to 15th place in 2015, despite a fall in point score from 514 to 

509 The UK has also climbed two places for reading, rising from 23rd to 21st despite the average 

point score falling from 499 to 498 in three years.   

Closer to home, the Annual report of HM Chief Inspector of Education, Children’s Services and 

Skills 2015/16 (December 2016)8 reports that in Gloucestershire 91% of pupils are in good or 

outstanding secondary schools (2016). An increase of 5 percentage points from 2015. For 

primary schools 96% of pupils are on good or outstanding schools in 2016. A 9 percentage point 

increase from 2015.  

The report ‘UKs Skills Mix: current trends and future needs’ (2016)9 by Professor Campbell 

found UK skills levels (measured by qualification) have improved considerably in recent years 

and are likely to continue to do so to 2020.  

Overall the picture nationally and locally is of improvements in the education sector.  

3.1 Wider economic context 

The employment rate (the proportion of residents aged 16-64 who were in work) is currently 

79.9% (April 2015 to March 2016) which is well above the National Average (73.7%)10 The 

corresponding unemployment rate has consequently reduced but there are issues in 

Gloucestershire particularly relating to youth unemployment and long term unemployment.  

Gloucestershire has a better qualified population than the country as a whole. There is a greater 

proportion of professional occupations than at regional or national level. 

83% of residents also work in Gloucestershire11.  

                                                
7
 http://www.oecd.org/pisa/  

8
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/574186/Ofsted_annual_report_education_and_skills

_201516_web-ready.pdf  
9
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/571675/ER5_The_UK_s_Skills_Mix_Current_Trends_
and_Future_Needs.pdf  
10

 Annual Population survey, ONS. www.nomisweb.co.uk 
11

 2011 census, ONS 

Page 24

http://www.telegraph.co.uk/education/leaguetables/10488555/OECD-education-report-subject-results-in-full.html
http://www.oecd.org/pisa/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/574186/Ofsted_annual_report_education_and_skills_201516_web-ready.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/574186/Ofsted_annual_report_education_and_skills_201516_web-ready.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/571675/ER5_The_UK_s_Skills_Mix_Current_Trends_and_Future_Needs.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/571675/ER5_The_UK_s_Skills_Mix_Current_Trends_and_Future_Needs.pdf
http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/


7 
 

There are approximately 28,29512 businesses in Gloucestershire. They support a well-qualified 

and highly skilled employed workforce of approximately 289,40013 people (those that work in the 

county, not necessarily residents). 

Both manufacturing and health are significant in terms of employment. Other important sectors 

to Gloucestershire include:  

 public administration and defence (eg GCHQ),  

 education,  

 construction and  

 retail14. 

 

Employment growth is predicted in the following sectors: 

 health,  

 business administration and support services,  

 construction,  

 accommodation and food services and the  

 mining quarrying and utilities sector 

Source: LEFM, Gloucestershire County Council 2016 

The SEP focuses on key drivers of productivity and supporting growth in high value sectors; not 

necessarily the sectors with the highest number of people employed in them. The SEP focuses 

on the following sectors:  

 Nuclear and renewable energy 

 Aerospace 

 Precision engineering and medical instruments 

 Expert intensive businesses 

Professional, scientific and technical, finance and insurance and the media, particularly digital 

media and tourism are also very important to the county15 

                                                
12

 UK Business Counts – Enterprises, 2016. ONS 
13

 Business register and Employment survey 2015, ONS 
14

 Business register and employment survey 2015, ONS 

Page 25



8 
 

The Gloucestershire LEP economy will be strongly influenced by the national economic and 

policy context. Productivity and increasing productivity is a key issue in the county and ensuring 

employers have the right skills is of the utmost importance to reduce the GVA gap between 

Gloucestershire and better performing areas. The LEP originally forecast growth for 2020 of 

4.8% GVA pa. However this has since been revised down. 

Enterprise 

The number of business start-up (births) in 2015 was 3,235. This equates to a rate of 85.0 

business ‘births’ per 10,000 of the working age resident population – higher than the regional 

average (78.2 births per 10,000) but a lot lower than the national average of 94.3 per 10,000. 

The area with the greatest percentage increase in business births is Gloucester which saw a 

52.1% increase between 2011 and 2015. Cheltenham saw the lowest percentage increase in 

births over the same period of 17.1%. 

 

In 2015, 2390 businesses closed (business deaths) in Gloucestershire. This equates to a rate of 

62.8 business deaths per 10,000. This is broadly similar to regional and national figures. The 

districts with the highest number of business deaths are Tewkesbury (+19.6%) and Stroud 

(+2.6%) they are the only districts that have seen an increase of deaths between 2011-2015. 

 

The outlook is positive as there is a net gain in the number of businesses. 

GVA and employment  

Table 1, below shows the sectoral contributions to local GVA & employment in 2014. 

  

                                                                                                                                                       
15

 p34 of GFirst SEP 2014 

Page 26



9 
 

Table 1: GVA and Employment 2014 

SIC 
code 

Sector Employment’16 Direction 
of travel 

(employm
ent)17 

GVA18 

Number 
 

% Million 
£ 

% 

A Agriculture, forestry and 
fishing 

1,750 0.7 Decrease 160 1 

BDE  4,250 1.5  591 4 

B Mining and quarrying 250 0.1 No 
change 

  

D Electricity, gas, steam and air 
conditioning supply 

2,250 0.8 No 
change 

  

E Water supply; sewerage, waste 
management and remediation 
activities 

1,750 0.6 No 
change 

  

C Manufacturing 35,000 12.6 Decrease 2,426 16 

F Construction 14,000 5.1 Increase 987 7 

GHI  72,000 26  2,138 14 

G Wholesale and retail trade; 
repair of motor vehicles and 
motorcycles 

46,000 15.5 Increase   

H Transportation and storage 10,000 2.9 Increase   

I Accommodation and food 
service activities 

21,000 7.6 No 
change 

  

J Information and 
communication 

9,000 3.2 No 
change 

760 5 

K Financial and insurance 
activities 

9,000 3.2 No 
change 

804 5 

L Real estate activities 5,000 1.8 No 
change 

1,901 13 

MN  42,000 19.1  1,585 11 

M Professional, scientific and 
technical activities 

23,000 6.9 Increase   

N Administrative and support 
service activities 

21,000 8.3 Increase   

OPQ  75,000 27.1  2,889 19 

O Public administration and 
defence; compulsory social 
security 

13,000 4.7 No 
change 

  

P Education 24,000 8.3 Decrease   

Q Human health and social work 
activities 

40,000 14.1 Increase   

                                                
16

 ONS Business Register and Employment Survey https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/lep/1925185570/report.aspx 
17

 Direction of Travel is the difference between 2015 and 2014 ONS figures and if the numbers have increased, decreased or there 
has been no change 
18

 https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva/datasets/gvaforlocalenterprisepartnerships 

Page 27

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/lep/1925185570/report.aspx
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva/datasets/gvaforlocalenterprisepartnerships


10 
 

RST  10,000 3.6  639 4 

R Arts, entertainment and 
recreation 

5000 1.8 No 
change 

  

S Other service activities 5000 1.8 No 
change 

  

T Activities of households as 
employers; undifferentiated 
goods-and services-producing 
activities of households for own 
use 

No data  No 
data 

No data   

N.B. The SIC codes have been grouped together by the ONS for GVA, the employment figures 

have been added together to match the GVA groupings. 

The top 5 sectors in terms of percentage share of employment in Gloucestershire are: 

1st Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles (15.5%) 

2nd Human health and social work activities (14.1%)  

3rd Manufacturing (12.6%) 

= 4th Education (8.3%) 

= 4th Administrative and support service activities (8.3%) 

It is worth noting although these sectors are the largest employers the future direction of travel 

for manufacturing and education is to decrease.  

Those sectors that have a positive direction of travel are: Wholesale and retail trade; repair of 

motor vehicles and motorcycles, Construction, Transport and storage, Professional, scientific 

and technical activities, Administrative and support service activities and Human health and 

social work activities.  

The top 5 sectors in terms of GVA contribution in Gloucestershire are: 

1st Public administration and defence; compulsory social security, education, human health and 

social work activities (19%) 

2nd Manufacturing (16%) 

3rd Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles, transportation and 

storage, accommodation and food service activities (14%) 

4th Real estate activities (13%) 

Page 28



11 
 

5th Professional, scientific and technical activities, administrative and support service activities 

(11%) 

In 2013 manufacturing was the largest sector but this has slipped to second place in 2014. The 

top sector in 2014 with regard to GVA is Public administration and defence; compulsory social 

security, education, human health and social work activities worth £2889m.  

Competitiveness 

The UK Competitive Index for 201619 places the Gloucestershire LEP area as the 14th most 

competitive LEP area in England (out of 39), a drop from 2014 when it was 11th. The West of 

England, which is the eighth most competitive LEP nationally and the most competitive LEP 

area in the South West.   

There are 379 localities measured on the competitive index. Table 2 below highlights the 

districts in Gloucestershire and their position on the competiveness scale. Figures highlighted in 

green have seen a positive increase on their ranking since 2013. Figures in red have seen a fall 

in rankings since 2013. 

Table 2: Competiveness 

Locality Position 2013 Position 2016 

Cheltenham 73rd  67th 

Cotswolds 93rd 82nd 

Stroud 89th  95th  

Tewkesbury 106th  97th  

Gloucester 163rd  167th 

Forest of Dean 246th  234th  

 

                                                
19

 http://www.cforic.org/pages/ukci2016.php  

Page 29

http://www.cforic.org/pages/ukci2016.php


12 
 

Unfortunately two districts in Gloucestershire have seen a reduction in their competitiveness 

(Stroud and Gloucester). The Forest of Dean, whilst improving on its competitiveness score, is 

still worryingly near the bottom of the league table. 

Productivity 

Productivity is an underlying weakness of the UK economy. Workers in France, Germany and 

the US produce on average as much in four days as UK workers do in five.20. Improving skills is 

one way to change this fact. 

In 2015 the total output of the Gloucestershire economy was approximately £15.97 billion, 

representing 13% of the value of output in the South West and 1% of the UK economy.21 

The latest figures show GVA per head in Gloucestershire was £48,8741, which was above the 

South West (£45,361) but below the UK average (£50,830)22. In 2015 Gloucestershire’s GVA 

per hour worked was £30.20. This was above the South West average (£29.40) but below the 

UK average (£31.80)23. Increasing productivity is not a case of the workforce working longer 

hours but it is producing more for each hour of their time. This can be changed by improving 

the workforce’s skills and/or using technology. Over 10,000 employees in Gloucestershire are 

not proficient at their job24. To change this requires training and investment. 

In the Centre for Cities report25 the authors categorise cities into four groups according to their 

performance in terms of exports and productivity. Gloucester falls into the third quadrant; a 

group of cities that underperform and urgently need to improve. Gloucester is below average for 

exports per job and productivity per job. The report suggest that ‘policy should focus on 

improving the attractiveness of these cities as places for business investment for exporters 

through improving skills, local infrastructure and looking at existing strengths on which those 

cities can capitalise.’ 

There is a correlation that overall research and development investment tends to be lower in 

areas with low productivity
26

. The HE establishments in Gloucestershire should consider 

this an opportunity and examine ways to engage business and conduct research and 

development through Knowledge Transfer Partnerships (KTPs).  

                                                
20

 ONS (2016) International Comparisons of Productivity for 2015 
21

 Regional Gross Value Added (Income Approach), 1997 to 2015, ONS 
http://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva/datasets/regionalgrossvalueaddedincomeapproach 
22

 Regional and sub-regional productivity in the UK: Jan 2017, ONS, 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/labourproductivity/articles/regionalandsubregionalproductivityint
heuk/jan2017/relateddata 
23

 Ibid. 
24

 https://data.gov.uk/dataset/ukces-employer-skills-survey-2015 
25

 http://www.centreforcities.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Cities-Outlook-2017-Web.pdf  
26

 ONS (2016) UK Gross Domestic Expenditure on Research and Development: 2014 

Page 30

http://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva/datasets/regionalgrossvalueaddedincomeapproach
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/labourproductivity/articles/regionalandsubregionalproductivityintheuk/jan2017/relateddata
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/labourproductivity/articles/regionalandsubregionalproductivityintheuk/jan2017/relateddata
https://data.gov.uk/dataset/ukces-employer-skills-survey-2015
http://www.centreforcities.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Cities-Outlook-2017-Web.pdf


13 
 

3.2 Current skills demand 

Employment structure 

The figures for the number of people employed by sector can be found in Table 1.  

Gloucestershire has broadly the same representation of employment in higher skilled 

occupations, compared with the UK as a whole. In Gloucestershire, 42% of employment is in 

the three high skilled occupational groups: managers, professionals and associate 

professionals. This compares with a UK average of 43%. However, the figure is much higher in 

London (57%).  

The proportion of employment in the three lowest-skilled occupations is slightly lower than the 

UK average. In Gloucestershire, 24% of employment is in sales or customer service, 

plant/process operatives and elementary roles, compared with a UK average of 25%.  

The proportion employed in middle-ranking occupations is higher than the UK average: jobs in 

administrative, skilled trades and caring/leisure roles account for 34% of employment in 

Gloucestershire, compared with 32% in the UK.  

Skills shortages and skills gaps  

Table 3: Vacancies, skills gaps, training and underutilisation in Gloucestershire 

 

England 
Total 

South 
West 
Total 

Glouceste
rshire 
Total 

Vacancies     
 Establishments with any vacancies 20% 18% 16% 

Have at least one vacancy that is hard to fill 8% 8% 7% 

Have a skills shortage vacancy (prompted or 
unprompted) 6% 5% 4% 

Number of vacancies - - 6828 

Number of skill-shortage vacancies (SSV) - - 1424 

Number of vacancies as a % of all employment 3% 3% 3% 

% of all vacancies which are SSVs 23% 24% 21% 

 
    

 Skills gaps     
 % of establishments with any staff not fully 

proficient 14% 14% 16% 

Number of staff not fully proficient as a % of 
employment 5% 4% 4% 

Page 31



14 
 

 
    

 Training     
 % of establishments training staff over the last 12 

months 66% 66% 65% 

% of establishments providing off-the-job training in 
the last 12 months 48% 50% 50% 

% of establishments providing on-the-job training in 
the last 12 months 52% 53% 51% 

% of training establishments providing online 
training or e-learning in the last 12 months 45% 44% 44% 

    Underutilisation     
 Establishments with underutilised staff 30% 27% 28% 

 

The data from the UKCES 201527 report presented in Table 3 above identifies that around 16% 

of Gloucestershire’s employers had vacancies, in total 6,828. Of this number 7% were identified 

as being ‘hard-to-fill’.  

The consequences of not filling vacancies are detrimental to the local economy.  

Employers were asked the consequences of not filling vacancies. See Table 4 below. It appears 

that employers are well aware of the consequences. When the employer was asked why they 

thought the vacancy was hard to fill the top three responses were;  

 low number of applicants with the required skills (28%),  

 low number of applicants generally (19%) and  

 not enough people interested in doing this type of job (16%). 

  

                                                
27

 https://data.gov.uk/dataset/ukces-employer-skills-survey-2015  

Page 32

https://data.gov.uk/dataset/ukces-employer-skills-survey-2015


15 
 

Table 4: Employers responses for not filling vacancies 

Consequence of not filling vacancies 

(prompted). Participants could answer more 

than once. 

Average 

% 

Gloucestershire 

% 

Lose business or orders to competitors 40 40 

Delay developing new products or services 37 25 

Have difficulties meeting quality standards 32 26 

Experience increased operating costs 39 36 

Have difficulties introducing new working 

practices 

32 19 

Increase workload for other staff 83 87 

Outsource work 28 33 

Withdraw from offering certain products or 

services altogether 

23 21 

Have difficulties meeting customer services 

objectives 

46 45 

Have difficulties introducing technological 

change 

21 12 

None 6 6 

Don’t know 1 0 

 

Using Labour Insights, a tool which provides data relating to job vacancies, in October 2016 

there were 6,342 vacancies. During the period November 2015 to October 2016, 73,660 jobs 

were advertised in Gloucestershire, up from 53,704 over the equivalent period the previous 

year. 

Page 33



16 
 

The UKCES data reports that Gloucestershire employers identified 10,566 employees assessed 

as not being fully proficient in their jobs. This accounted for 4% of total employment (slightly 

below the national average of 5%).  The next logical question is why employers don’t train their 

existing staff to help alleviate the problems caused by not recruiting.  This figure of over 10,000 

people not being fully proficient in their jobs has ramifications on the county’s productivity as 

already mentioned. Further work should be done to look more closely as to why over 10,000 

people are not fully proficient, in what sectors and at what level; if they have just come out of 

education this should be examined to ensure what is being taught is relevant to employers 

needs. 

Barriers to providing more training 

A number of reasons were given when asked why employers didn’t offer more training. The 

most popular responses were; lack of funds /training expensive mentioned by 48% of 

respondents (but lower than the national average of 51%). Can’t spare more staff time (having 

them away on training) was mentioned by 44% of Gloucestershire businesses (lower than the 

national average of 49%). 

Levels of qualification of workforce 

When asked about the level of qualification employees have trained to, most say their 

employees are trained but not towards nationally recognised qualifications (36% higher than the 

national average of 33%). 33% said they do not train (slightly lower than national average of 

34%). In Gloucestershire 4% are trained to level 1. 12% are trained to level 2, 12% are trained 

to level 3. 6% are trained to level 4 and above28.  

3.3 Future skills demand 

There are a number of sources of information predicting the type of jobs that will be available in 

the future, what skills will be needed and what level and type of qualifications will be required. 

The most respected figures are produced by the Government in their LMI summary, this takes 

information from Working Futures, Employer Skills Survey and the Employer Perspective 

Survey29.  Information from Experian and other sources have also been used but the forecast 

numbers are not consistent.  

                                                
28

 UKCES 2015, Raw data 
29

 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483126/LMI_Summary_-
_Gloucestershire__Final_.pdf 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483126/LMI_Summary_-_Gloucestershire__Final_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483126/LMI_Summary_-_Gloucestershire__Final_.pdf


17 
 

The Governments LMI Summary predicts the number of jobs in Gloucestershire is set to rise by 

around 14,000 over the next decade (2012-2022), an average annual rate of growth of 0.4%. 

This is a little below the UK average rate (0.6%). This does not take into account projections 

should the Growth Deal 3 submissions be successful. If the 11 submissions are successful this 

will account for an additional 16,008 jobs30. 

The main sources of employment growth in Gloucestershire (in absolute terms) are forecast to 

be: 

 Health and social work (9000+) 

 Professional services (3000+) 

 Construction (2000+) 

 Wholesale and retail (2000+) 

Declining sectors are expected to be: 

 Manufacturing (including engineering) with a loss of 4,000 jobs.  

 Public administration is expected to see a decline (-1,000) in its level of employment 

between 2012 and 2022 in the LEP area, broadly in line with that projected at the UK 

level31.  

Working Futures32 2012-2022 predicts that Gloucestershire, like the wider UK picture, can 

expect to see job growth concentrated in higher level roles, as well as in lower level roles 

relating to care.  

The Working Futures projections for Gloucestershire are:  

 22,000 additional high level jobs (for managers, professionals and associate 

professionals), with 55% of these in professional roles.  

 11,000 fewer jobs in middle ranking administrative, secretarial and skilled trade 

occupations. Despite this decline these roles are expected to remain significant sources 

of employment in 2022. There are expected to be around 31,000 administrative and 

secretarial jobs in the LEP area, despite the loss of around 6,000 jobs in the previous 

decade. In addition there are expected to be around 9,000 additional jobs in caring or 

leisure roles. 

                                                
30

 http://www.gfirstlep.com/News/Growing-Gloucestershire-~~-new-bid-for-Growth-Deal-funding/  
31

 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483126/LMI_Summary_-
_Gloucestershire__Final_.pdf  
32

 https://data.gov.uk/dataset/working-futures   

Page 35

http://www.gfirstlep.com/News/Growing-Gloucestershire-~~-new-bid-for-Growth-Deal-funding/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483126/LMI_Summary_-_Gloucestershire__Final_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483126/LMI_Summary_-_Gloucestershire__Final_.pdf
https://data.gov.uk/dataset/working-futures


18 
 

 Private sector services as a whole are expected to contribute around 47% of net job 

growth in Gloucestershire between 2012 and 2022, this is very low when compared with 

the UK average of 85%. 

STEM 

Many jobs of the future will require STEM subjects. Industries related to STEM subjects are 

important to Gloucestershire. The recent Science and Innovation Audit (SIA)33 (including 

Gloucestershire) found that just over a third (36%) of subjects being studied by undergraduates 

in Gloucestershire are STEM. This figure has increased by 1.8% since 2012. This is better than 

the consortia area34 (average 1.1% increase) but matches the overall picture for England and 

Wales – increase of 1.8%.  

For post graduate students 46% of subjects are in STEM subjects. Biological science and 

Architecture, building and planning being the most popular subjects. The report shows that out 

of the consortium Gloucestershire is losing graduate skills the most. 60.7% remain in the LEP 

area 6 months after graduating which may sound high but not compared to Cornwall and Isles 

of Scilly at 74.9%. The reasons for this should be examined further. Out of 40 LEP regions 

Gloucestershire ranks 32nd for retaining graduates 6 months after graduation. This is significant 

in Gloucestershire and should be addressed. The report found that 6.6% of Gloucestershire’s 

workforce is employed in science, research, engineering and technology professionals and 

associated professions. Ranking =21st out of 40 LEPs. 

A positive statistic is Gloucestershire (14.5%) is above the GB average (11.9%) for the share of 

employees employed in all SIA 535 themes (14.5% equates to 40,200 employees). 

The county appears to have a particular strength in next generation microelectronics (LQ36 5.48) 

and for this area is ranked 3rd in Great Britain. However, there are only 80 businesses classed 

as microelectronics; only 0.3% of the share of enterprises in the 5 themes. The largest share of 

enterprises in 2015 was the ‘resilience, environment and sustainability theme’ at 13.3% but it 

had the lowest location quotient of all 5 themes of 0.93. It also had the greatest number of 

businesses in 2015 (3650). 

                                                
33

 http://gw4.ac.uk/sww-sia/  
34

 The consortia area is South West of England (Cornwall & Isles of Scilly, Gloucestershire, Heart of the South West, Swindon & 
Wiltshire, and West of England LEPs) and South East Wales 
35

 The 5 themes are: Aerospace and advanced engineering, Digital living innovation, Resilience, environment and sustainability, 
Next generation microelectronics and New energy systems 
36

 A LQ or Location Quotient is a way that measures a county’s industrial specialization relative to a larger geographic unit (usually 
the nation). For example, an LQ of 1.0 in mining means that the county and the nation are equally specialized in mining; while an LQ 
of 1.8 means that the county has a higher concentration in mining than the nation. If the LQ is 0.8 then the county has a lower than 
national average concentration in mining. 

Page 36

http://gw4.ac.uk/sww-sia/


19 
 

Jobs growth and replacement demand 

Working Futures forecasts replacement demand, which occurs where there is a need to recruit 

and train new entrants into jobs to replace those leaving37, combined with jobs growth and 

contraction across sectors, means there will be a net requirement to fill 130,000 jobs between 

2012-2022. Total net requirements are positive across all occupations, which shows that there 

is a continuing need for relevant skills provision, even in areas where overall employment levels 

may be falling.  

The overall requirement is again skewed towards higher skilled occupations.  This shift 

towards higher-skilled occupations will generate a rising demand for higher levels of 

skills and qualifications.  Working Futures38 expects to see a net growth of 12,000 jobs 

in professional roles which are projected to be supplemented by 26,000 job openings 

arising from replacement demands in Gloucestershire.  

For those occupational areas in which we expect to see a net decline in the number of 

jobs, replacement demands mean that we can still expect a strong supply of job 

openings. For example, in administrative roles, it is projected that a loss of around 2,000 

jobs will be more than offset by 12,000 job openings resulting from replacement 

demands.  

As a result of supply and demand factors, the qualification profile of employment is 

expected to shift markedly in Gloucestershire. The proportion of jobs held by people 

qualified at a higher level (level 4 and above) is projected to increase from 38% to 48% 

between 2012 and 2022. Workers with low qualifications (below level 2) are expected to 

decline from 18% to 12% of the total workforce over this period.  

The graphs below shows a different set of projected changes in employment for Gloucestershire 

over the period 2015-2025 by Cambridge Ecometrics LEFM, courtesy of Gloucestershire 

County Council. 

                                                
37

 ‘Replacement demand’ is defined as the number of retirements, plus occupational mobility, plus migration. 
38

 https://data.gov.uk/dataset/working-futures 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483126/LMI_Summary_-
_Gloucestershire__Final_.pdf  

Page 37

https://data.gov.uk/dataset/working-futures
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483126/LMI_Summary_-_Gloucestershire__Final_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/483126/LMI_Summary_-_Gloucestershire__Final_.pdf


20 
 

-16 

-3 

1 

-8 

14 

-12 

12 

13 

16 

-19 

-1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

5 

8 

24 

-25 -20 -15 -10 -5 0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Associate professional and technical
occupations

Sales and customer service occupations

Elementary occupations

Skilled trade occupations

Professional occupations

Process, plant and machinge operatives

Administrative and secretarial occupations

Caring, leisure and other service
occupations

Managers, directors and senior officials

% change in employment 2015-2025 

Projected change in employment by broad occupational 
structure 2015-2025  

Gloucestershire

UK

-18 

-13 

-9 

-7 

-5 

-2 
1 

1 
3 

3 

4 

5 

8 
8 

8 

11 

14 

15 

19 

-20 -15 -10 -5 0 5 10 15 20

Agriculture, forestry & fishing

Wholesale

Manufacturing

Property

Education

Public administration & defence

Transport & storage (inc postal)

Motor  trades

Arts, entertainment & recreation

Retail

Professional, scientific & technical

 Financial & insurance

Information & communication

Health

Business administration & support services

Mining, quarrying & utilities

Other services

Construction

Accommodation & food services

% change in employment 2015-2025 

Projected change in employment by broad 
industrial sector  

Gloucestershire UK

 

Page 38



21 
 

Top forecast occupations 

Top 10 growth occupations for Gloucestershire are forecast to be; 

1. Care and home workers  

2. Nurses  

3. Nursing auxiliaries and assistants 

4. Teaching assistants  

5. Production managers and directors in manufacturing  

6. Managers and directors in retail and wholesale  

7. Sales accounts and business development managers  

8. Financial managers and directors  

9. Medical practitioners  

10. Customer service occupations (not elsewhere classified)  

However, it should be noted that forecasting cannot always predict what jobs and roles will be in 

demand in a decade’s time, due to the pace of change. This argues for all education and 

training embedding skills and attitudes that embrace flexibility and change. 

3.4 Skills supply 

Population forecasts 

The Office for National Statistics (ONS)39 projections suggest that the population in 

Gloucestershire will rise by 46,300 between 2014 and 2024, rising from 611,300 to 657,600. 

This increase of 7.6% of the 2014 population is equivalent to an average annual increase of 

0.8% per annum. Between 2024 and 2039, the population is projected to rise to 714,000, an 

increase of 8.6% of the 2024 population. Over the full 25 year period of the ONS projections, the 

Gloucestershire population is projected to increase by 16.8%, with an annual average growth 

                                                
39

 2014-Based Population Projections, Office for National Statistics 

Page 39



22 
 

rate of 0.7%. These projections are slightly higher than those for England and Wales. The 

dominating feature of the projections is the sharp increase in population in the age group 65 or 

over, which is projected to increase from 123,800 in 2014 to 206,300 in 2039 (an increase of 

66.6%). This increase is sharper than the national trend for England and Wales and means that 

by 2039 the proportion of people in Gloucestershire who are aged 65 or over will have risen 

from 20.3% of the population to 28.9%. The population of children and young people (those 

aged 0-19) is projected to rise by 11.0% over the twenty-five year period which is in line with the 

trend for England and Wales. By comparison, the working age population (those aged 20-64) is 

projected to rise by only 1.4% over the same period. This increase is lower than the national 

trend for this group and means that by 2039 the working population in Gloucestershire will have 

fallen from 57.1% of the population to 49.6% of the population. This will limit the pool from which 

employers can recruit and may have implications for the ability of the local economy to grow, 

unless growth is accompanied by a rise in productivity.  

Economic activity  

While the size of the working age population is an important factor in looking at the volume of 

labour supply in the region, it is also important to look at how many people of working age are 

economically active. Economic activity rates in Gloucestershire are high: during the period April 

2015 to March 2016, Gloucestershire had an economic activity rate of 83.5%, which was above 

both the South West and Great Britain average of 80.8% and 77.8% respectively40. 

During the period April 2015 to March 2016 an estimated 314,700 residents of Gloucestershire 

in employment, of these 300,500 or 96% were aged 16-64. This equates to a resident based 

employment rate of 79.9% which is higher than the South West and Great Britain averages of 

77.4% and 73.7% respectively41. In July 2016 the number of people claiming unemployment 

related benefits stood at 4,180, a rate of 1.1%42. The International Labour Organisation (ILO) 

measure of unemployment is much higher, there were 13,800 16-64 year old’s unemployed in 

Gloucestershire during the period April 2015 to March 2016, a rate of 3.7%43. The situation 

relating to those 18-24 year olds claiming unemployment benefits in Gloucestershire is one of 

improvement from July 2013 to July 2016, with the number of claimants falling from 2,360 to 

925 people, this represents a decrease of 61% over the three year period. As a proportion of 

total working age claimants, the percentage of 18-24 year old claimants has decreased from 

26.1% to 22.1%44. 

There has been a steady decline in long term unemployment, with the proportion of the 

unemployed who are long term unemployed (more than a year) falling from 26.5% in April 2013 

                                                
40

 Source: Annual Population Survey, Office for National Statistics 
41

 Annual Population Survey 
42

 Claimant Count, Office for National Statistics 
43

 Annual Population Survey, Office for National Statistics 
44

 Claimant Count, Office for National Statistics 

Page 40



23 
 

to 22.6% in April 201545. Long term unemployment leads to a loss of skills, motivation and 

workplace behaviours, is an important issue and one that may have a lasting legacy, as long-

term unemployment is normally slowest to fall during periods of economic recovery. 

Pockets of deprivation 

Although unemployment in the county is generally low, there were 39 wards (of 146) with 

claimant rates above the July 2016 County average of 1.1%. They range from St Paul’s, 

Swindon Village, Lydbrook and Ruardean, Newland and St Briavels, Barnwood, Grange, Valley, 

Hucclecote, Innsworth with Down Hatherley, and Northway, at 1.2%, to Westgate at 4.0%46. 

This demonstrates that deprivation and high unemployment levels are by no means solely an 

urban issue. 

NEETs 

The number of NEET’s in Gloucestershire has decreased over the last three years from 580 in 

July 2013 to 429 people in July 2016. This represents an overall decrease of 26% over the three 

year period. Actual rates of NEETs, although seeing seasonal increases around the month of 

September, have also shown an overall decrease. Over the same period, NEET rates have 

decreased from 4.5% to 3.3% in Gloucestershire47.  

Participation in learning 

In June 2016 90% of 16 and 17 year olds in the Gloucestershire LEP area were engaged in 

some form of education or work-based learning, a rise of 3.7 percentage points from 86.2% at 

the same point in the previous year48. 

Skills of the workforce 

Gloucestershire has a better qualified population than the country as a whole, in 2015 those 

with degrees or equivalent accounted for 30.1% of the 16-64 year old population which was 

above the national average of 28.5%. At the other end of the scale some 6.5% of the 16-64 year 

                                                
45

 Job Seekers Allowance, ONS 
46

 Claimant Count, Office for National Statistics 
47

 Gloucestershire Youth Support Team 
48

 Participation in education and training: local authority figures, Department for Education 

Page 41



24 
 

old population had no qualifications which was some 2% below the national average and 

amounted to 24,000 people49. 

3.5 Skills pipeline 

GCSEs 

After peaking at 63% in 2011 he proportion of Gloucestershire pupils achieving 5+ A*-C GCSEs 

including English and Maths declined to 61% in 2014. The regional and national picture reflects 

a different pattern in that values peaked in 2013 before declining a year later by 3 percentage 

points. The county does, however, remain above the regional and national averages50.  

Progression routes 

Progression at 18 year of age shows a varied picture; 

 53% of Gloucestershire students are entering higher education at 18 which is below the 

national average of 58%. 

 22% going to Russell Group Universities. Higher than national average of 17% 

 9% going into employment against 7% nationally 

 5% doing apprenticeships at 18 – in line with national average 

There are anecdotal signs of progression to advanced and higher apprenticeships increasing 

but only slightly and being held back by lack of supply. 

3.6 Apprenticeships 

The SFA data51 for the number of apprenticeship starts in 2015/16 shows there were 5130. This 

can be further broken down by type of apprenticeship and age.  In 2015/16 Under 19 (or youth) 

apprenticeships accounted for 1520 starts. 29.6% of total apprenticeship starts in 2015/16. 19-

24 year olds accounted for 1580 starts (30.7%) and over 25 year olds accounted for 2030 starts 

(39.5%). 

                                                
49

 Annual Population Survey, ONS 

50
 https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/get/ShowResourceFile.aspx?ResourceID=213 

51
 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fe-data-library-apprenticeships  

Page 42

https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/get/ShowResourceFile.aspx?ResourceID=213
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fe-data-library-apprenticeships


25 
 

Intermediate level 

The number of starts for intermediate level apprenticeships in 2015/16 was 2900. The number 

of starts was fairly equally distributed across all age ranges (1050 starts for 25+ years (36%) 

33% under 19 and 30% for 19-24 year old age group).  

Advanced level 

The number of starts for advanced level apprenticeships starts in 2015/16 was 2010. The 

number of starts for under 19s was 530 (26% of starts for this level). 670 19-24 year olds started 

this level (33%) and 810 over 25 year olds started this level (40%)52. 

Higher level 

The number of starts for higher level apprenticeships starts in 2015/16 was 220. The number of 

starts for under 19’s was only 10 (5% of the starts for this level). 40 19-24 year olds started this 

level (18%). The largest group to start this level was the over 25s, 170 started this level in 

2015/16 (77%). 

Comparing the 2015/16 data with previous years (table 5 below) shows that the total number of 

all apprenticeship starts has increased from 2013/14 from 4350 to 5130 in 2015/16. 

Intermediate level apprenticeships have gone down slightly. Advanced and higher 

apprenticeships have both increased over this period of time. Although the numbers for higher 

apprenticeship starts are low, the progress made since 2013/14 is significant. 

Table 5: number of apprenticeships starts by year in Gloucestershire. 

Type of 

apprenticeship 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Intermediate 2740 3000 2900 

Advanced 1520 1770 2010 

Higher 90 150 220 

Total 4350 4920 5130 

                                                
52

 Does not equal 100% due to rounding 

Page 43



26 
 

Agriculture, 
Horticulture and Animal 

Care 
2% 

Arts, Media and 
Publishing 

0% 

Business, 
Administration and Law 

24% 

Construction, 
Planning and the 

Built Environment 
4% 

Education and 
Training 

1% 

Engineering and 
Manufacturing 
Technologies 

15% 

Health, Public Services 
and Care 

30% 

Information and 
Communication 

Technology 
2% 

Leisure, Travel and 
Tourism 

3% 

Retail and Commercial 
Enterprise 

19% 

Not only is it important for the number of apprenticeships to increase it is also important that the 

apprentices are going into the right area to support the Gloucestershire economy and matches 

the projected increases in number of jobs by sector. Information gathered by the SFA on the 

subjects the apprentices were starting in Gloucestershire for 2015/16 were; Health 30% (1550 

starts), Business 24% (1250 starts) Retail and commercial enterprise 19% (960 starts) and 

Engineering 15% (760 starts). The pie diagram below illustrates the distribution of subjects as a 

percentage. 

 

3.7 Other factors 

Employer-sponsored learning  

Using data available from UKCES 2015, 65% of employers in the Gloucestershire LEP area had 

arranged or funded training for staff in the 12 months prior to the survey, compared with 66% 

nationally. There was a slightly higher than average incidence of off-the-job training in 

Gloucestershire – a reversal of trend since the last skills statement. 

Page 44



27 
 

The survey estimates that a total of 171,396 employees in Gloucestershire had received training 

in the last year, equating to 65% of the workforce and above the national average (63%). 24% 

of these studied towards a nationally-recognised qualification.  

The survey also shows that the average number of training days per staff is 4.5. Above the 

National average of 4.2. 

Careers support 

The Careers and Enterprise Company (CAEC) produced a heat map53 of what careers support 

is needed across the country. This was last produced with 2014 data. The figures from the 

report are in table 6 below.  The indicators show that Gloucestershire is better than England for 

offering work experience. This is particularly important as recent research has shown that 

students that do have workplace exposure earn up to 18% more than their peers
54.  

Table 6: Indicators of careers support 

Indicator 
England Gloucestershire 

% Employer establishments who had 
anyone in on work experience 38% 44% 

% Employer establishments who offered 
any work inspiration 18% 17% 
% Employers answering: 16 year old 
school leavers are "poorly" or "very poorly 
prepared" for work 36% 29% 

% Employers answering: 17-18 year olds 
recruited to first time job from school are 
"poorly" or "very poorly prepared" for work 29% 20% 

Work experience 

Even though the proportion of employers that offer work experience is higher in Gloucestershire 

(44%) than nationally, there is still a lack of work experience, as required by the employer. Less 

than one-fifth (17%) of local employers within the LEP area had offered any work inspiration, 

such as holding site visits at their establishment for students or conducting mock interviews with 

                                                
53

  www.careersandenterprise.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/20151026-Cold-Spots-Report-vF1.pdf  

54
 http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmese/757/75702.htm  Original source Mann, A., & Percy, C. 

(2014). Employer engagement in British secondary education: wage earning outcomes experienced by young adults. Journal of 

education and Work, 27(5), pp. 496–523 

 

Page 45

http://www.careersandenterprise.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/20151026-Cold-Spots-Report-vF1.pdf
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmese/757/75702.htm


28 
 

students those children in year 7 and above. Somewhat paradoxically, while a little over three-

fifths of Gloucestershire employers cited relevant work experience as critical or significant when 

recruiting, less than half of employers (44%) in the LEP area had anyone on work experience in 

the previous 12 months.  

The Government report ‘Enterprise education: how secondary schools prepare young people for 

work’55 published in November 2016, it highlights a number of failings which the local LEP 

should address. The involvement of the LEP was already highlighted by Lord Young’s report56 

‘Enterprise for All’ in 2014. 

Research from Ofsted57 found that local employers and their national representatives suggested 

that a lack of work-related learning was a major barrier to young people gaining employment. 

School leaders who offered well-managed work experience in key stage 4 reported that it had a 

positive impact on pupils’ attitudes to school on their return and was therefore well worth the 

investment in curriculum time. A report by Pye Tait consulting for HEFCE58 examining employer 

demand for intermediate technical education in HE identified that just over half of the employers 

surveyed report skills developed through work experience as being missing or hard to find when 

recruiting to technician-level roles, demonstrating a clear need for work experience. 

Soft Skills 

Employers also note that attitudes to employment are key. Employability skills and attitudes 

need to built into all post 16 offers.  

Employers were asked what skills they valued the most, they said; communication, team work, 

problem solving, organisation, being able to work under pressure, perseverance, leadership, 

negotiation, commercial awareness and confidence59.  

In the Governments report ‘The Future of Work: Jobs and Skills in 2030’60 it identified that young 

people will need to be willing to jump across specialist knowledge boundaries as technologies 

and disciplines converge, developing a blend of technical training and ‘softer,’ collaborative 

skills. In the future young people will have more than one career and adaptability using softer 

skills (such as collaborative working, communication skills) will be of paramount importance. 

                                                
55

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/enterprise-education-how-secondary-schools-prepare-young-people-for-work  
56

 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/338749/EnterpriseforAll-lowres-200614.pdf  
57

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/enterprise-education-how-secondary-schools-prepare-young-people-for-work  
58

 http://www.hefce.ac.uk/pubs/rereports/Year/2016/techdemand/Title,108883,en.html 
59

 http://get-trained.org/latest-news/top-10-skills-employers-value-most  
60

 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/303334/er84-the-future-of-work-evidence-report.pdf  

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/enterprise-education-how-secondary-schools-prepare-young-people-for-work
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/338749/EnterpriseforAll-lowres-200614.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/enterprise-education-how-secondary-schools-prepare-young-people-for-work
http://www.hefce.ac.uk/pubs/rereports/Year/2016/techdemand/Title,108883,en.html
http://get-trained.org/latest-news/top-10-skills-employers-value-most
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/303334/er84-the-future-of-work-evidence-report.pdf


29 
 

The Career Design company conducted an employability research61 to track the skills 

employers seek when recruiting graduates. 90% of respondents said their ideal candidate would 

be ‘passionate’ and ‘positive’. Employers wanted digital fluency (the ability to interpret 

information, discover meaning, design content, construct knowledge and communicate).  

Employers were concerned by the lack of curiosity of graduates.  

Free School Meals  

Measuring Free School Meals (FSM) is a proxy measure of disadvantage. The Department for 

Education’s statistical release in August 201662 for widening participation in Higher Education 

(HE) shows that the progression to HE of those claiming free school meals has got worse in 

Gloucestershire.  

The percentage progressing to HE has actually dropped from when it was at its highest (13% in 

2012/13) and had the least percentage points different (26). The gap has since risen to 28 

percentage points difference (still higher that the National average of 17). Only 10% of those 

who have FSM go on to HE, whilst amongst those that don’t have FSM, 39% go on to HE. The 

gap is 28 percentage points.  

Looking at a comparison for the region and England, Gloucestershire’s progression rate is lower 

than the region and considerably lower than the national average (see Table 7 below).  

Table 7: 2013/14 cohort Free School Meals 

Area % Those 
claiming Free 
School Means 
that go on to HE 

% Those that 
do not have 
FSM that go on 
to HE 

Percentage 
points difference 

Overall % pf 
pupils with FSM 

Gloucestershire 10% 39% 28 7% 
South West region 14% 35% 21 9% 
National 22% 39% 17 - 

 

  

                                                
61

 https://gallery.mailchimp.com/a600cd29335e0f06efa8d0ed3/files/16_03_003_CD_White_paper_no1_FINAL.pdf  
62

 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/543126/SFR37-2016_-
_WPHE2016_01.08.2016.pdf  

Page 47

https://gallery.mailchimp.com/a600cd29335e0f06efa8d0ed3/files/16_03_003_CD_White_paper_no1_FINAL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/543126/SFR37-2016_-_WPHE2016_01.08.2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/543126/SFR37-2016_-_WPHE2016_01.08.2016.pdf


30 
 

4. FURTHER INFORMATION  

For further information about this report or the work of the strategic alliance please contact 

Kathryn Wagstaff, Strategic Alliance Project Manager, 01242 715454 kwagstaff@glos.ac.uk 

www.glos.ac.uk/strategicalliance 

 

                                                
i Extract from the Strategic Alliance Memorandum of Understanding  

The Strategic Alliance partnership will raise the quality, range and accessibility of higher 

education in Gloucestershire and the West of England, through a better integrated higher 

education offer for the area underpinned by a joint higher education strategy. 

 

Page 48

mailto:kwagstaff@glos.ac.uk
http://www.glos.ac.uk/strategicalliance


Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board – Draft Terms of Reference 

Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board

Draft Terms of Reference for discussion

GFirst Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and the local authorities in Gloucestershire are 
planning to establish an Employment & Skills Board. The Board is being created to provide a 
link between local economic development needs and strategic planning and it will have the 
mandate to address issues around skills and unemployment /worklessness in the County. 

The aim of the Board is to boost economic growth by creating a more appropriate, relevant 
and highly skilled local workforce, and its role is to shape and influence employment and 
skills training and support to meet the skills needs of employers in Gloucestershire. This will 
be done by engaging private and public sector employers, colleges, training providers and 
the voluntary and community sector in the development and delivery of an integrated 
employment and skills strategy and associated action plan. 

The Board will aim to:

 ensure that employers are able to access the right skills and training to grow their 
businesses

 increase the level of skills of the population of Gloucestershire
 increase skilled employment opportunities in Gloucestershire

This will encompasses the skills needs of our young people, those seeking jobs and the skills 
of the current and future workforce. There is also a particular emphasis on helping those 
who are currently economically inactive for whatever reason to develop their employability 
skills and find employment.

The Employment and Skills Board (ESB) will report to the GFirst Local Enterprise Partnership 
(LEP) Board and to the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee (GEGJC) and has 
a specific role to develop and inform LEP and local authority strategic plans with particular 
reference to skills and training needs.  Gloucestershire has requested of government a 
devolution deal. If this is successful, the Employment and Skills Board would oversee the 
skills component and budget of that deal. 

GFirst LEP CIC Ltd (“GFirst LEP” or “LEP”) is a not-for-profit company and as such, any 
surplus or assets are used principally for the benefit of the community. It is supported by 
the county council and six local district councils, all of whom play an active part in economic 
development through the GEGJC.

The Board will:
 Develop an evidence base to inform the Board about the employment and skills 

needs, demand and supply in the County
 Develop and implement a Skills Strategy for Gloucestershire 
 Develop a skills commissioning framework, monitor and review it
 Provide GFirst LEP and other appropriate bodies/groups such as the Gloucestershire 

European Structural and Investment Funding (ESIF committee) with 

Page 49



Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board – Draft Terms of Reference 

recommendations on both revenue and capital skills funding priorities and skills 
projects within Gloucestershire

 Optimise the impact of employment and skills investment for local communities, 
employers and individuals

 Use experience and knowledge of Board Members and others associated with the 
Board to seek to shape strategy and policy on employment, learning and skills 
development

Board Composition and Meetings

The Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board will be an advisory body with no legal 
status but with a specific role as part of GFirst LEP and local authority structure.  There will 
be a maximum of 15 members, including the Chair, supported by a Secretariat of two/three 
staff from GFirst LEP/GCC/Strategic Alliance.    

All Board members will work or live in the Gloucestershire area and will be expected to 
commit approx. 1 day per month to ESB-related work. The Chair is expected to commit 
approx. 2 days per month to ESB-related work and to work closely with the 
LEP/GCC/Strategic Alliance staff involved in co-ordinating the work of the ESB.

The proposed Board will comprise:

Board Roles Number
Chair
Private sector employer

1

Vice-Chair
Private sector employer

1

Employers – private sector
The 5 private sector representatives on the ESB should be representative of 
the key sectors in the County as well as representative of both SMEs and 
large employers.

3

Employers – public sector
- Gloucestershire County Council representative
- District Council representative
- Health

1
1
1

Employers – voluntary & community sector 1

Higher Education 1

Further Education 2

Secondary Schools 1

Gloucestershire & Wiltshire Training Providers Network 1

Page 50



Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board – Draft Terms of Reference 

Private Training Provider 1

DWP 1

Secretariat for the ESB to be provided by GFirst LEP/GCC/Strategic Alliance. 3

 Meetings will be scheduled to recognise that most members will be in employment 
or run businesses.

 All members will be appointed through open advertising and approved by GFirst 
LEP. Local authority and other public sector representatives shall be nominated by 
the relevant bodies (e.g. Leadership Gloucestershire/GEGJC), as will the 
representatives from higher education, further education, schools and private 
training providers/training provider network.

 Board Members shall be appointed for an initial term of 2 years with 
representatives from Higher and Further Education serving for an initial term of one 
year. This is to encourage collaboration and communication between universities 
and between colleges regarding the Employment and Skills Board and to avoid 
representation to be dominated by particular organisations.  

 Following this initial term Board Members will resign but they may be reappointed 
for a further term of 2 years with the consent of the LEP Appointments Board. 

 
 The Board will meet 4-6 times a year in private.  Agendas, papers and minutes of 

ESB meetings will be published online and will be accessible via the GFirst LEP and 
GCC websites. 

 Members are expected to provide apologies if they cannot attend and no 
substitutes will be allowed.

Task & Finish Groups

From time to time it may be necessary to establish specific skills task and finish groups (e.g. 
for Apprenticeships, Careers and Information, Advice and Guidance, etc.) and other skills 
specialists may be invited to join these. Any group or panel will need to be sponsored by an 
Employment and Skills Board Member, who may or may not chair the group, depending on 
the issue under consideration.

Role of Board Members
As well as attending Board meetings, members may be asked to attend other meetings as a 
representative for the LEP and ESB, and will be required to read background papers and 
documents and input into plans.  

The specific role of a Board Member will be to:

Page 51



Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board – Draft Terms of Reference 

 use experience and knowledge to help shape strategy and policy on employment, 
learning and skills development;

 influence the prioritisation, planning and investment in employment and skills 
supply and the shape of delivery;

 Support the strategic aims of  GFirst LEP
 Represent a range of people, organisations or views, not just their own or that of 

their own organisation

The way we do business
Board Members will be expected to adopt the following values/approaches:

 Championing to influence and lead by example
 Developing enterprising solutions that are creative
 Partnership working across the private, public and the third sector
 Sharing best practice
 Being inclusive of each locality and community across Gloucestershire

Ideally, we want Board Members who:

• Can see the 'big picture' for Gloucestershire and can set aside the interests of their own 
organisations for the overall good of the county 

• Have an understanding of the employment and skills context in Gloucestershire 

• Are empowered to speak on behalf of their sector, representative or stakeholder group 
and provide to the Board an agreed consensus position reflecting the views of their 
constituency (rather than just their own organisation)

• Have access to a wider network for advice

• Have some experience or expertise in managing skills/talent development or employment 
of staff/volunteers so know, and can manage, some of the challenges and requirements 
involved

• Have some experience of working cross-sector and with Government departments

• Are able to use their experience and knowledge to inform the commissioning of 
investments in the County that cover employability and skills 

• Have committee experience and are skilled at providing succinct guidance, analytical 
input to the issues / interventions under discussion and skilled at building consensus

• Have time available to prepare for and attend meetings as well as to review complex 
documents

A Code of Conduct and Register of Interest will be drawn up and all Board members and 
observers are required complete a declaration.  

Page 52



Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board – Draft Terms of Reference 

Observers (non-members)
Observers will be invited to attend Board meetings from the
Skills Funding Agency. Others may be invited at the discretion of the Board.

A Secretariat, comprising staff of GFirst LEP/Gloucestershire County Council/Strategic 
Alliance will also be represented at all meetings. 

Specialists may be invited by the Chair to attend specific Board meetings or Agenda items 
where particular expertise is required.

Occasional observers may request to attend a meeting through the Chair.

Board Member Remuneration

Board Members shall not be remunerated although they may be paid expenses properly 
incurred by them in connection with the discharge of their duties.  All potential expenses likely 
to be incurred by Board Members must be made known to the Secretariat beforehand and 
duly authorised before reimbursement.

Administration
The Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board will be supported by a secretariat hosted 
by GFirst LEP/Gloucestershire County Council/Strategic Alliance.  The meetings and the 
papers of the Board will be prepared by this secretariat.

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



www.gfirstlep.com    info@gfirstlep.com   01242 715480
Registered Office: GFirst LEP CIC, Oxstalls Campus, Gloucester, GL2 9HW 

Company Number 09353067

GFirst LEP:
 Industrial Strategy 

Draft Response

Page 55

Agenda Item 6

http://www.gfirstlep.com/
mailto:info@gfirstlep.com


Industrial Strategy Response

Background

GFirst LEP welcomes the publication of the Industrial Strategy Green Paper and the renewed emphasis 
on improving productivity and the UK’s global position in key competitive sectors.  GFirst LEP also 
welcomes the recognition of the importance of place in the Green Paper and the desire to ensure 
growth happens across the UK.

Gloucestershire has a prosperous and resilient economy set within a highly attractive natural 
environment, which offers a high standard of living for local residents. The County is predominantly rural 
with two urban centres, Gloucester and Cheltenham, which serve as the main business and commercial 
heartland. These urban centres are complemented by vibrant market towns that act as valuable 
employment hubs and key providers of services. The development of the County has been strongly 
influenced by connectivity to the Midlands and South West via the M5 corridor and to London and the 
South East via the M4 corridor

The county has circa 27,500 businesses supporting a workforce of approximately 294,000 employees. 
We are in the top three LEPs for employment within knowledge intensive manufacturing and services. 
We have the highest percentage in all LEP regions of employees in high and medium technology 
manufacturing and an abundance of SME’s in cyber security and creative industries, including digital, all 
of which have high growth potential.  We have been acknowledged by Government as ‘punching well 
above its weight’ and being one of the best performing LEPs nationally for Growth Deal delivery.

Industrial Strategy

We welcome and support the need for an Industrial Strategy, and we agree that such a strategy should 
recognise the different strengths and opportunities of different places.  To be successful it needs to be 
ambitious, clear and urgent, elements that are not readily apparent in the proposed structure. We 
believe that one strategy reflecting one approach will not work for all areas. There must be flexibility for 
local needs and opportunities to be maximised. The focus of this response is therefore on its impact 
locally. It is important that the local strategy should have private sector leadership supported by 
national and local government and not the other way round.

We feel that a “strategy” is as much about defining what the Government will not support as well as the 
areas that it will support. It should clearly state those industries that they think should be supported 
financially and those that will be supported non-financially. For example the former should include 
artificial intelligence, nanotechnology, robotics, advanced materials, genetics, aeronautics etc. The latter 
might include steel, shipbuilding, mining etc. which, broadly, fortunately, do not impact on the economy 
of Gloucestershire. Non-financial support can be extremely influential through the use of laws, licenses, 
regulations etc. 

We welcome an approach that focuses on niche high growth sectors and opportunities in addition to 
looking to develop areas where existing sectors are embedded. Place will be a key success factor for an 
Industrial Strategy. Previous sector-focused strategies have failed on this point. A strategy must 
recognise the value of connections between government, local government and LEPs, and the critical 
role of place in driving growth through transport, planning, housing, skills, business support and public 
service reform. 

Page 56



Investing in science, research and innovation 

As referenced below, GD3 funding will accelerate the cyber security industry to the west of Cheltenham 
and in association with GCHQ and private sector businesses.  The industrial strategy should reflect this 
important growth sector and enable the LEP to attract World-class businesses as well as research 
institutions to the county to work in partnership to grow businesses and the talent required to support 
the sector.  

Agricultural science and technology is rapidly becoming one of the world’s fastest growing markets, 
driven by a rising population and shortages of land, water and energy. The Royal Agricultural University 
in the county is well positioned to play a leading role in this global challenge of the “sustainable 
intensification” of agriculture via its Rural Innovation Centre and its LGF funded Centre for Research 
Translation (CRT). The CRT will support the growing demand for agri-technology solutions with a 
particular focus on innovation and effective application. Innovation and research are also key themes of 
our LGF funded Gloucestershire Renewable Energy Engineering Nuclear [ GREEN ] initiative at Berkeley. 
This will provide a home for University research into a test bed for solar, wind and tidal energy 
complementing the engineering offer which will include scientific research into battery technology, 
energy storage, grid technology etc etc. We need funding to support the commercialisation of new 
ideas by strengthening links between HE, FE to support science, research and innovation leading to 
growth in productivity. 

Upgrading infrastructure 

Our SEP provides for ambitious plans for growth. To achieve this, we need to have a collaborative 
approach on planning with local authorities to ensure that the planning system supports and 
promotes sustainable economic growth. Housing is also critically important in securing this economic 
growth. However National and local politics, as well as the speed at which local developments come 
forward,  has proven to be the main barrier to new development and have constantly caused delay and 
inconsistency within the planning system. 

Consistency in decision-making is important both to developers and local planning authorities (LPAs), 
because it serves to maintain public confidence in the operation of the development control system.  
We are working closely with local business in Construction and Infrastructure sector and some LPAs to 
see if we can devise a model that will overcome these barriers to development. We have been 
encouraged by the cooperation and positive approach of the LPA’s involved in creating this pioneering 
programme which, if successful, can be rolled out to all Districts in the county and shared with other 
LEPs.

To enable investment in the county’s businesses and enable new economic activity on what is currently 
for sterilised land we need the Environment agency and partners to jointly develop and agree a 5 year 
investment programme for flood alleviation work on the River Severn. The shortcomings in the existing 
Broadband provision has been highlighted by developers as another barrier to economic growth that 
needs addressing by a more flexible and localised approach to the deployment of funding in deploying 
the Next Generation Access. 

Growth Deal funding, through strong partnership working and the leadership of the LEP, has enabled 
Gloucestershire to focus on projects of strategic importance locally, nationally and internationally.  The 
LEP has clearly demonstrated an ability to identify good projects; evaluate them; with the assistance of 

Page 57



our accountable body, robustly scrutinise them; and, most importantly, deliver the projects on time, to 
budget and in short order.  As a result, GFirst LEP has welcomed the process and allocation of Growth 
Deal funding and would fully support a further allocation of funding for the period beyond 2020-21. 

Improving procurement 

We agree the importance of creating the right conditions to put UK supply chains in the strongest 
possible position to compete for contracts on the basis of best value. The commitment to raise SMEs’ 
share of central procurement to one-third and to ensure all major government suppliers sign up to the 
Prompt Payment Code, promising to pay suppliers, including small businesses, promptly and fairly is 
welcomed. We support the procurement approach outlined to the to the Brexit/OJEU challenge via 
the 4 broad areas outlined: stimulating innovation, use of “balanced scorecard”, key industries and 
transforming digital procurement. 

Delivering affordable energy and clean growth 

This area has the potential for huge growth within the county. We have some major providers based in 
Gloucestershire. These include EDF Energy, Horizon Nuclear Power, Magnox, Ecotricity and Tidal Lagoon 
Power to name but a few. Our current Growth Deal also contains £5m for Gloucestershire Renewable 
Energy Engineering Nuclear [ GREEN ] for STEM skills training. This will be the UK’s first zero carbon skills 
centre. We welcome that the transition to a low carbon economy will be done in a way that minimises 
costs and that this will be done in conjunction with the energy providers and capitalize on our 
strengths in these industries.  We believe that the industrial strategy provides the opportunity to 
ensure adequate measures are in place to incentives further the move to a low carbon economy.

Driving growth across the whole country 

As mentioned earlier we firmly believe that one size does not fit all and that any Industrial Strategy 
should provide flexibility for local needs and opportunities to be maximised. Our aim is to accelerate 
economic growth in Gloucestershire by focusing on key drivers of productivity and supporting growth in 
high value sectors. Our SEP is ambitious in this respect. With leadership from the private sector through 
the LEP, it seeks to grow the economy by creating 34,000 jobs, more than 5000 new apprenticeships and 
create a GV A uplift of 4.7%  - almost £500m. The 7 councils and LEP are working collaboratively to 
provide 47,000 new, homes, 180 hectares of employment land and circa £800m of critical infrastructure 
to support 

This will be achieved by retaining and expanding our productive high value manufacturing sector, 
supporting accelerated growth in knowledge-intensive services which are growing but still under-
represented relative to the rest of the UK.  To enable this we need simplified planning and licensing 
processes to help businesses and growth and speed delivery by avoiding unnecessary blocks to 
development and employment decisions. We also need the funding and the Governments will, to unlock 
longstanding connectivity problems, particular along the M5 corridor – the economic “Growth Zone” in 
our SEP.  

Growing Places funding has made a significant contribution to growing our economy.  We have used the 
funding on a sustainable loans basis.  We believe that a further allocation of local growth loan funding 
for Gloucestershire that enabled the provision of direct and low cost capital loans to businesses in the 
county would further drive local growth.       

Page 58



Developing skills 

The identification of skills as one of the pillars of the strategy and the increased focus on skills as part of 
a successful industrial strategy is very welcome. In Gloucestershire, we support the proposals in the 
Green paper. However we would also like the Government to acknowledge the scale of the impending 
replacement demand situation brought about by a low birth rate and an aging population. Reskilling is 
going to become a priority and will be exacerbated if skills cannot be imported from abroad.  This 
forecast is reflected in many parts of the Country. In addition students should be prepared to have a 
number of different careers during their working life. For this very reason we welcome the Green papers 
appreciation of the importance of Life Long Learning.

In particular we must ensure we continue to align Science Technology Engineering and Maths (STEM) 
education capability with STEM sector industrial growth and demand. Through the LGF we have already 
invested £7m in STEM skills provision as part of the county’s 6 year STEM strategy including the 
innovative Berkeley GREEN project.  It is essential to create clear progression routes into industry by 
enabling employers to forge partnerships with schools, colleges and universities and in doing so making 
STEM learning relevant to their workplaces. We have carried out an innovative, extremely successful, 
programme introducing Engineering to the majority of Primary Schools in the county, using local 
businesses. This clearly indicates that Primary Schools are the place to start and funding needs to be 
made available to both support and drive this forward.

Supporting businesses to start and grow 

We are proud to have the 2nd highest 3 year business survival rate among LEPs. Following LGF funding, 
our focus is currently primarily through a Growth Hub providing a physical hub of resources, connections 
and support to drive business and economic growth in the county. With close links to Higher and Further 
Education, it provides focused business support for businesses to both start and grow. Further resource 
centres are being networked across the county in both a physical and virtual form. This includes a major 
presence in each of the 31 libraries across the county fully supported by a bespoke CRM system. All of 
this is funded by £12m in our current Growth Deal. 

The Growth Hub have also developed a SME and Early-stage Enterprise Development [ SEED ] fund with 
the RGF to provide public grants to SMEs towards the cost of business development projects that will 
create new, sustainable jobs in Gloucestershire. The programme also provides business support and 
incubation services. The major funding opportunities are addressed by the creation of an LEP banking 
and finance panel that provide a monthly drop in clinic. The panel comprises a range of financial 
providers including, high street banks, crowdfunders, business angels, venture capitalists and grant 
specialists. They provide free, impartial advice that often involves a bespoke solution of 2 or more 
components. This is a highly effective model that will be shared with other LEPs.

The Industrial Strategy should commit to long-term and adequate resource funding for successful 
Growth Hubs to replace European funding when that ends.

Encouraging trade and inward investment 

Gloucestershire is ranked 1st among the LEPs for the proportion of employment within ‘export intensive’ 
sectors. Despite poor data there is clear evidence that we are under-performing relative to the UK. Our 
SEP and ESIF make specific reference to these challenges and issues, and the need to tap into this latent 

Page 59



potential.  We need Government funding and support to provide resources that provide an SME focus 
on how to realise their export potential and opportunities by raise awareness, developing peer to peer 
networks, and signpost to existing provision, or develop provision where it doesn’t exist etc.

We agree with the need for a strategic approach towards inward investment including initiatives to 
encourage our companies to exploit their growth plans. In such a competitive and global environment, 
we are aware that other countries have attractive incentives in place to specifically attract inward 
investment. We need to be able to compete.

Cultivating world leading sectors 

We already have institutions and businesses in world leading sectors in cyber security, agri science, 
aerospace, advanced engineering including spectroscopy and advanced materials. All of these have 
potential global strength and huge potential for supply chains. Arguably the most important of these 
currently is GCHQ located in Cheltenham.  In 2015 the Government announced the creation of a Cyber 
Centre based in Cheltenham. The GCHQ Director of Cyber Security has stated that their vision for the 
centre is that it could act as a catalyst for commercial cyber development activities for business start-
ups, technology incubators and more mature businesses. 

We thus have the opportunity to become a world leader in cyber security and provide an extensive high 
tech supply chain. GD3 funding will start making this a reality and mirror the successes we have 
achieved in accelerating growth through the current LGF. The provision of a Cheltenham Cyber Park on 
45ha of land adjacent to CGHQ will be a game changer for the economy of the county. It will create 7500 
jobs and 500 houses whilst providing substantial private leverage. The speed of the transport 
infrastructure required to enable a major development such as this will require simplified processes, 
effective leadership and engagement of government agencies arguably on a timescale not 
encountered before by the county.

Creating the right local institutions to bring together sectors and places 

It is essential that we work together with businesses at a local level along with Local Authorities and 
MP’s to create a civic enterprise leadership model with the LEP acting as the honest broker. We have 
created a network of LEP Business Groups made up of industry experts, covering Gloucestershire’s 
leading business sectors and ensure that what we do is firmly rooted in the real world. They provide 
business leadership influencing local strategy such as our highly successful Growing Places Fund. This 
removes barriers to economic growth and supports the delivery of our SEP and Growth Deal via a 
financing rather than a grant model.  Whilst an increase in our RGF funding is desirable, most 
importantly for LEPs it is essential that they are guaranteed multiyear funding until the end of their 
Growth Deal. 

Page 60



Strategic Planning 
Westgate St

Gloucester 
GL1 2TH 

robert.niblett@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

01452 425695
10th February 2017 

Dear Sir/Madam 

National Infrastructure Assessment Call for Evidence

Thank you for consulting Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) on the above matter.  This is an 
officer level response and includes comments from the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint 
Committee (GEGJC) representing the seven Gloucestershire councils within the county, and GFirst - 
the Gloucestershire LEP.

We have the following officer level responses to the questions posed. 

Cross-cutting issues:

1. What are the highest value infrastructure investments that would support long term sustainable 
growth in your city or region?

Note: this can apply to national, regional or local infrastructure, where you consider it would best 
support sustainable growth in your city or region in practice. Considerations of “highest value” 
should include benefits and costs, as far as possible taking a comprehensive view of both. “Long-
term” refers to the horizon to 2050 and should exclude projects that are already in the pipeline.

The highest value infrastructure investments in the Gloucestershire which will support long-term 
sustainable growth in the region include:

o A417 Missing Link part of SRN) Missing Link improvement to improve access between M5 to 
M4 (This scheme is within the Government’s Road Investment Strategy for scheme 
development during the RIS1 period, with construction during the RIS2 period.

o Upgrade of Cheltenham Spa rail and Gloucester rail stations

o West of Cheltenham relief road

o Upgrade of primary radial bus corridors between Cheltenham and Gloucester to enable bus 
rapid transit between primary urban centres and major employers including access to multi-
modal interchange sites accessed from SRN

o M5 Junction 10 all movements junction improvement

Page 61

Agenda Item 7

mailto:robert.niblett@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2. How should infrastructure most effectively contribute to the UK’s international 
competitiveness? What is the role of international gateways for passengers, freight and data in 
ensuring this?

Global markets play a significant role in meeting the UK’s day to day needs. Equally our ability to 
trade competitively across national boundaries will become an even greater priority in the coming 
years. 

Infrastructure as an investment has a positive impact on the UK’s international competitiveness.  
International gateways are important for passengers, freight and data.  The capacity and reliability of 
infrastructure (strategic road network, digital communications etc) is critical to the performance and 
competitiveness of businesses across the logistics sector. Unreliable infrastructure constrains growth 
and economic success.

3. How should infrastructure be designed, planned and delivered to create better places to live 
and work? How should the interaction between infrastructure and housing be incorporated into 
this?

Need better resourced and understanding of all infrastructure requirements at the local plan stage.  
IDPs (Infrastructure Delivery Plans, or sometimes Infrastructure Development Plans) are prepared as 
evidence to Local Plans, but vary significantly in terms of analysis and understanding.  They should 
be seen as critical for infrastructure delivery, and feed in at every stage of planned development, 
including at the application stage.  They could be incorporated into local plans and neighbourhood 
plans to guide infrastructure alongside housing growth.

IDPs could be used to achieve consensus as to timing and delivery of infrastructure.

Better places will include appropriate provision and enhancement of green space which is known to 
attract investment, workers and residents to a location. Places with good access to green space are 
also healthier. The relevant government website pages on this topic are:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-guidance-and-green-infrastructure 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-of-cities-green-infrastructure-and-health 

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/natural-environment/green-
infrastructure/ 

Locally, the Gloucestershire Nature Partnership has produced a green infrastructure framework 
which also covers this matter which is available on the LNP’s website at 
http://gloucestershirenature.org.uk/index.php .

This observation is also relevant to question 9.

Page 62

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-guidance-and-green-infrastructure
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-of-cities-green-infrastructure-and-health
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/natural-environment/green-infrastructure/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/natural-environment/green-infrastructure/
http://gloucestershirenature.org.uk/index.php


4. What is the maximum potential for demand management, recognising behavioural constraints 
and rebound effects?

Note: “demand management” includes smart pricing, energy efficiency, water efficiency and 
leakage reduction. “Rebound effects” refer to the tendency for demand to increase when measures 
aimed at reducing or spreading demand also lead to lower prices or reduced congestion, undoing 
at least some of any demand reduction. For example, if smart meters reduce the cost of electricity 
in off-peak periods, this could lead to greater energy consumption overall, where a large number 
of individuals or firms take advantage of these lower prices by increasing their total usage.

Nothing to add

5. How should the maintenance and repair of existing assets be most effectively balanced with the 
construction of new assets?

Nothing to add

6. What opportunities are there to improve the role of competition or collaboration in different 
areas of the supply of infrastructure services?

Nothing to add

7. What changes in funding policy could improve the efficiency with which infrastructure services 
are delivered?

Note: by “funding”, the Commission means who pays for infrastructure services and how, e.g. user 
charges, general taxation etc.

Recognition of the long-term investment in infrastructure which creates the conditions for economic 
growth. Infrastructure assessments and analyses (IDPs for example) require better understanding by 
LPAs and the development industry, and should be appropriately resourced and compiled with the 
required expertise.  There is a need for upskilling of most of the key partners involved here.

Funding policy should include making sure sustainable drainage systems and green spaces are 
adequately managed through an appropriate case by case mix of developer and occupier/user 
contributions. This is linked to our observation under question 3.

8. Are there circumstances where projects that can be funded will not be financed? What 
government interventions might improve financing without distorting well-functioning markets?

Note: projects that “can be funded” but “will not be financed” refers to projects that can be paid 
for, but where the upfront costs of construction cannot be raised at an efficient price and/or with 
an appropriate risk sharing balance between the different parties. General government financing 
policy (i.e. the issuance of gilts) is out of scope.

Identified infrastructure e.g. in IDPs should be based on ensuring fairness, inclusiveness, 
environmental protection, acceptance and resilience. Avoiding necessary infrastructure, or where 
infrastructure is not financed will adversely affect the most vulnerable groups of users (such as the 

Page 63



elderly, fuel poor households, single parents, families with multiple children) or lead to the exclusion 
of already marginalised groups. 

Government interventions should possibly focus on inclusive infrastructure and the knowhow to use 
it (i.e. the provision of certain infrastructure services such as high-speed broadband) - this allows 
 online access to infrastructure services requires the use of a smart appliance such as a laptop, 
mobile phone or tablet.  The smart city concept (or smart town/village) relies on certain 
infrastructure that could benefit from interventions. 

9. How can we most effectively ensure that our infrastructure system is resilient to the risks 
arising from increasing interdependence across sectors?

Note: this includes resilience against external risks and/or problems that arise in one or more parts 
of the system.

Cross reference Question 3.

10. What changes could be made to the planning system and infrastructure governance 
arrangements to ensure infrastructure is delivered as efficiently as possible and on time?

The planning system requires an understanding of both needs and a pipeline of future infrastructure 
projects would signpost future activities and so provide greater certainty to all involved with 
infrastructure provision.  IDPs go some way to assessing needs, but see comments above on varying 
quality and resources/understanding needed to keep them up-to-date.  Pipeline of infrastructure is 
less specific but creates signposts to future infrastructure requirements, to assist planning and 
providers of infrastructure to act at the appropriate time, creating incentive for innovation and 
possible solutions.

11. How should infrastructure most effectively contribute to protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment?

There are many reference and evidence documents on protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment through development. The relevant government website pages on this topic are:

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/natural-environment/green-
infrastructure/ 

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/natural-environment/biodiversity-
ecosystems-and-green-infrastructure/ 

Particularly relevant is the CIRIA initiative on net biodiversity gain and the biodiversity challenge. 
Further details are to be found at:

http://www.ciria.org/News/blog/Biodiversity_Net_Gain_is_the_next_big_thing.aspx 

Page 64

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/natural-environment/green-infrastructure/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/natural-environment/green-infrastructure/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/natural-environment/biodiversity-ecosystems-and-green-infrastructure/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/natural-environment/biodiversity-ecosystems-and-green-infrastructure/
http://www.ciria.org/News/blog/Biodiversity_Net_Gain_is_the_next_big_thing.aspx


http://www.ciria.org/Research/Project_proposals2/Achieving_biodiversity_No_Net_Loss.aspx 

The good practice guide referred to is possibly already published and available from CIRIA and has 
involved input from many organisations. 

The Environment Bank promotes biodiversity accounting and offsetting. Although these techniques 
are imperfect they can be most useful as a methodology for the largest infrastructure projects. The 
methodology does not encompass all matters on the natural environment that particularly those of 
value to local communities. It has some merit however in scoping costs and options for biodiversity 
compensation and enhancement when this cannot be achieved on a development site or adjacent to 
it. Further information is available at http://www.environmentbank.com/library.php .

12. What improvements could be made to current cost-benefit analysis techniques that are 
credible, tractable and transparent?

Note: “credible” improvements are those that generate results that are in line with robust 
evaluation findings for comparable schemes. “Tractable” improvements are those that can 
generate usable quantitative outputs. “Transparent” improvements are those that do not rely on 
‘black box’ modelling and assumptions.

Nothing to add.

Transport – Questions 13 - 16

To preface Gloucestershire County Council’s officer response we would note that these questions 
merit substantial research which the Infrastructure Commission may wish to instigate. 

Gloucestershire is expected to receive significant amounts of development up to 2050, although 
neither its adopted Local Transport Plan nor any of the applicable Local Plans extend to cover this 
time period. Neighbouring English counties will also deliver large development sites, some in the 
form of new villages and towns. This will create large new volumes of movement and new desire 
lines. Gloucestershire will be impacted by development that is allocated outside of its boundaries 
and its control. However, the development impacts will be strongly felt within it. 

This will raise issues of national and regional transport and land use infrastructure planning which 
are not addressed through more local approaches. Growth in neighbouring counties will impact 
directly on Gloucestershire’s road and other transport network.  Neighbouring authorities may be 
better placed to mitigate growth impacts on cities within other counties through bus priority 
measures and segregated cycle lanes in association.

The existence of county boundaries and county land use and transport planning can in part obscure 
these facts. The scale of development and increase in transport demand across England requires a 
cross cutting regional and national approach. The impacts of development can be underplayed 
because of cross boundary effects and emerging transport behaviours at the margins, e.g Swindon 
Villages, Cotswold Village.

Page 65

http://www.ciria.org/Research/Project_proposals2/Achieving_biodiversity_No_Net_Loss.aspx
http://www.environmentbank.com/library.php


Therefore, a national and regional perspective on the transport infrastructure requirements is 
welcomed.

From a transport perspective the questions that we need to frame answers to are questions 13-16 
below

13. How will travel patterns change between now and 2050? 

o What will be the impact of the adoption of new technologies? 

o Note: “travel patterns” include both the frequency and distance of trips taken, and the mode of 
transport used. This covers personal and commercial travel, including freight.

Travel patterns may not change significantly between now and 2050 – however in Gloucestershire 
we expect:

 A removal of the traditional ‘peak’ travel periods with peak demand spreading to cover much of 
the day

 The County has 2 main urban areas, namely Cheltenham and Gloucester, with the urban centres 
located just 15km apart.  This will lead to increased poly centrism especially within this part of 
the Severn Vale, leading to some new trip desire lines and more complex short/ medium trips

 For local trips we would expect significant mode shift away from the private car to cycle and bus 
especially within, to and from the Central Severn Vale

 Increased cycle related congestion and road safety concerns

 Innovative solutions to trip demand lessening need for private car use and ownership

 Fewer longer distance commute trips as technology improves and the need to travel to the 
office alters

 Even with improvements in technology and increased home working the need for social 
interaction and to ‘get out of the house’ will create travel demand.

 International travel will grow as alternative fuels are developed to enable more sustainable 
longer distance travel.

 A significant increase in rail usage, not just for longer distance journeys but local trips within the 
County too.  Passenger numbers have significantly increased over the past decade.  

 Access to airports (Bristol, Birmingham and Cardiff) will remain very important.

 Gloucestershire is between the primary freight interchanges and its transport network and 
environment will be impacted by freight movement increases.

Page 66



14. What are the highest value transport investments to allow people and freight to get into, out 
of and around major urban areas? 

o Note: “high value transport investments” in this context include those that enable 
‘agglomeration economies’ – the increase in productivity in firms locating close to one another.

 Gloucestershire’s economic growth is focussed within the M5 corridor to access the strategic 
road network.  The county has two primary urban centres (Cheltenham and Gloucester) and 
work trips have been largely self contained within the county.  However, with neighbouring 
regional centres (Bristol, Birmingham, Swindon and Cardiff) expanding, Gloucestershire may 
provide a higher quality of life due to its semi-rural nature, and thus appeal to families and 
senior managers who will commute to these regional centres.  

 A significant high value transport investment is in the measures which enable local trips to 
be taken away from sole occupancy car use on the highway network and transferred to 
public transport, walking and cycling. Nationally and locally (within Gloucestershire) 
significant proportions of all trips are not by car. It is vital that a range of measures, which 
may or may not include large infrastructure projects, is identified and funded to maintain 
and increase these mode trip rates away from the private car in order to optimise the 
capacity of the highway and other transport networks. 

 For those living and working within the Cheltenham / Gloucester urban centre, walk, cycle, 
bus linkages and travel demand technologies will enable efficient travel between centres.  
Development within the Central Severn Vale as directed by the emerging Joint Core Strategy 
will depend on significant mode shift to these modes to prevent transport failure.

 Gloucestershire’s high value transport investments identified in the adopted LTP (non 
committed) include:

o A417 Missing Link

o Cheltenham to Gloucester cycle link (part of the Strategic Road Network and promoted by 
Highways England)

o Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve cycle link

o Upgrade of Cheltenham Spa rail station

o Upgrade of Gloucester rail station

o Strategic park and ride expansion at Arle Court, Cheltenham

 Gloucestershire’s high value transport investments identified in emerging Local Plan Transport 
Strategies include:

o West of Cheltenham relief road

o Upgrade of primary radial bus corridors between Cheltenham and Gloucester to enable bus 
rapid transit between primary urban centres and major employers including access to multi-
modal interchange sites accessed from SRN

Page 67



o Traffic signal upgrade in urban Cheltenham and Gloucester (Integrated smart signals – 
virtual scoot system or similar) and expansion of Urban Traffic Centre (not necessary within 
county)

o Multi-operators, multi-mode smart ticketing system to enable mobility as a service on 
regional or sub-national basis

o Intelligent demand responsive rapid vehicle access for rural centres as part of mobility as a 
service mantra

15. What are the highest value transport investments that can be used to connect people and 
places, as well as transport goods, outside of a single urban area? 

o Note: this includes travel in and between rural areas, as well as between urban areas and 
international travel.

 Gloucestershire is well connected to the wider Strategic Road Network via the M5, M50 and 
A417 (M4).  

 Gloucestershire’s high value highway investments identified in the adopted LTP (non 
committed) include:

o M5 Junction 10 all movements junction improvement

o A417 (part of SRN) Missing Link improvement to improve access between M5 to M4 (This 
scheme is within the Government’s Road Investment Strategy for scheme development 
during the RIS1 period, with construction during the RIS2 period.

 Gloucestershire high value highway investments identified in emerging Local Plan Transport 
Strategies include:

o A46 (part of SRN) offline improvement at Ashchurch to upgrade the A46 between the M69 
at Coventry and M5 Junction 9.

o New Severn River Crossing linking M5 to A48.  A Forest to M48 link through Chepstow which 
would benefit people seeking the attraction of rural Gloucestershire as a desirable place to 
live. It also sits alongside any M5/M48 proposal and how that would influence traffic 
movements on the network. 

o Full upgrade of M5 to enable smart motorway running linked to Urban Traffic Centre to 
provide real time travel information for local network to advise on optimal egress from SRN 
where there are alternative route options e.g. junctions M5 12, 11a, 11 and 10 (when 
upgraded to all movements junction) to inform any journey times on the local network when 
accessing the Forest of Dean at the single access point provided by the A40 at Over to 
ensure the most efficient route option is used.

o The smart motorway investment will also enable autonomous vehicle operation along the 
motorway network including autonomous HGV platooning.

Page 68



 Rail connectivity is inconsistent across the County.  Cheltenham Spa station provides high 
frequency connectivity to the national rail network particularly on a north south axis, but 
Gloucester station is located off the main line and requires operators to reverse back to the 
mainline which incurs a time delay.  Connectivity between Lydney in the Forest of Dean and the 
Greater Bristol area is poor as the rail infrastructure for direct services doesn’t exist. Similarly 
there are no direct rail routes connecting Cheltenham and Gloucester with the Oxford to 
Cambridge corridor.  Improving the type of trains operating on the local rail network to electric 
will reduce journey delay and the environmental impact caused by diesel engines.  

 Gloucestershire high value rail investments identified in LTP (non committed) include:

o Electrification of Bristol to Birmingham mainline

o Electrification of Great Western line including Kemble spur

o New Railway station(s) between Gloucester and Yate linked to extended MetroWest urban 
rail scheme and additional services between Bristol and Gloucester/Cheltenham 

o Full station upgrade of Kemble station to Cirencester Parkway

o Improve infrastructure and services on the North Cotswold line

o Work with stakeholders to reinstate the rail link between Stratford and Honeybourne

o Service improvements on the Gloucester- Cheltenham – Ashchurch for Tewkesbury - 
Worcester corridor as well as on the Gloucester to Lydney  and south Wales route.  

o Station improvements 

 Gloucestershire’s high value rail investments identified in emerging Local Plan Transport 
Strategies includes the electrification of South Cotswold Line

16. What opportunities does ‘mobility as a service’ create for road user charging? How would this 
affect road usage?

 The concept of mobility as a service will enable road user charging.

 From a Gloucestershire perspective a previous study concluded that a localised charging scheme 
is unlikely to work.

 From an officer perspective it is felt that road user charging would be most effective when 
applied to the motorway network linked to autonomous vehicle platooning and a charging 
system linked to time and distance travelled.

 The impact of some trip transfer away from the motorway will be on local road networks and 
communities

Page 69



 The hypothecation of revenue generated through road user charging on the motorway network 
could then provide a continued revenue source to reduce the need for Government funding.  
Funding previous allocated to Highways England could then be switched to improving the local 
highway network and improving urban transport solutions

Digital Communications 

Question 17

What are the highest value infrastructure investments to secure digital connectivity across the 
country (taking into consideration the inherent uncertainty in predicting long-term technology 
trends)? When would decisions need to be made? 

The role of digital communications infrastructure in collecting data and managing demand in other 
sectors is fundamentally important to deliver to ‘smarter’ infrastructure across the sectors.  Good 
digital capacity is needed to complement transport demand measures. As more people and 
organisations apply flexible working access to digital connectivity becomes a vital component 
economic growth.

The biggest is mobile connectivity to assist the public and also public and private services and 
availability of service should be the norm  The lead-in time to provide the required standard of 
connectivity (4G, 5G etc) can be substantial.  Consequently there exist too many ‘not-spots’ and very 
intermittent coverage, which is not conducive to today’s ways of doing business via multi-function 
smartphones.

Decisions are needed early in the process to ensure that the technology stays ahead of standard.  
The UK must become well placed to take advantage of 5G capacity when it becomes available. 

Question 18 

Is the existing digital communications regime going to deliver what is needed, when it is needed, 
in the areas that require it, if digital connectivity is becoming a utility? If not, how can we facilitate 
this? Note: the existing “regime” refers to the current market, competition and planning 
frameworks. “Digital communications” includes both fixed and mobile connectivity.

There is a long way to go before it can be considered as a utility. See above – there is a struggle with 
mobile connectivity which means that areas are playing catch up to meet standards, and authorities 
promoting broadband are often playing catch up.  The industry is supposed to respond to needs 
through licensing arrangements.  

In GCC the roll-out of broadband provision has aimed to deliver speeds of 30mbps in line with EU 
targets.  This will ensure that the area does not fall below EU targets, but we are aware that other 

Page 70



areas may be aiming e.g. for 24mbps minimum.  The importance of upload speeds as well as 
download speeds, and level of access and capability also need to be recognised.

Nationally, there is a question as to whether we are providing sufficient resources to deliver 
broadband infrastructure to meet the demands of the future, to enable the UK to be connected and 
compete globally.  There are still issues about current availability of broadband and mobile services 
both in urban and harder to reach rural areas.

Due to large housing numbers coming forward over coming years there is concern that current 
measures will not be enough as locations continue to grow homes and businesses. The Government 
must establish deployment of digital infrastructure – both fixed and mobile – as a priority in national 
policy and work with local planning authorities to encourage prioritisation in local planning policy.

Flood Risk Management 

Question 25

What level of flood resilience should the UK aim to achieve, balancing costs development pressure 
and the long term risks posed by climate change.  

The improving and raising of river defences along the River Severn in the vicinity of Gloucester City 
Centre at a cost of c. £5 million. This scheme would have a positive impact to revitalise an area of the 
city centre where regeneration developments are constrained by it being in Flood Zones 2 and 3 and 
provide opportunity for residential development on land that is presently unsuitable/unviable. The 
scheme has already been modelled and agreed in principle by the EA but lacks funding. Currently, 
 flood defence grant is determined by a business case based on the number of existing properties at 
risk, this business case does not take account of opportunity to promote new development, hence it 
requires an alternative funding source.

Question 26

What are the merits and limitations of natural flood management schemes and innovative 
technologies and practices in reducing flood risk?

Note: “innovative technologies and practices” can include, but is not necessarily limited to, 
property level resistance and resilience, temporary defences, advances in predictive asset 
maintenance and innovative construction materials.  

Gloucestershire recognises that it is not possible to prevent flooding in all cases. The Pitt Review 
delivered a number of recommendations following the 2007 floods, including delivering flooding 
advice for local householders and businesses, as well as supporting communities to be more reliant 
during emergencies.   Gloucestershire Local Resilience Forum (LRF) has developed a comprehensive 
multi-agency flood-plan, linking to district plans. 

Page 71



Flood Wardens have been established in high risk areas and advice has been delivered used a 
number of media: see http://glosprepared.co.uk/

Comprehensive resilience planning is likely to have a mitigating effect on inevitable flooding and will 
reduce the impact on households. 

If you would like to discuss any of the points raised above please do not hesitate to contact me.

Yours faithfully 

Rob Niblett

Planning Officer 

Page 72

http://glosprepared.co.uk/


Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool Update AGENDA NO: 

Meeting Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee, 15 March 2017

Report author David Stanley – Accountancy Manager (Section 151 Officer)
Stroud District Council
Tel: 01453 754100
Email: david.stanley@stroud.gov.uk

Background 
documents

None

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
background 
documents

N/A 

Main consultees Gloucestershire Chief Financial Officers

Planned dates N/A

Purpose of report To update members of the committee on the 2016/17 financial performance 
and 2017/18 forecast of the Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool.

Recommendations

The Committee:
1. Note the forecast position with the Pool for 2016/17 and 2017/18
2. Note the emerging propositions for the potential utilisation of the Strategic 

Economic Development Fund

Reasons for 
recommendations

The Business Rates Pool suffered a significant blow in 2014/15, although 
2015/16 performance has recovered some of these losses.  The Pool 
Management Team has taken steps to mitigate the risks of any future 
losses but the Committee needs to be mindful of the current risks.

Resource 
Implications

There are no resource implications to implementing this recommendation 
however, despite the mitigating action taken, Pool members must be aware 
of the risks associated with Pooling and make appropriate provision within 
their individual authorities.

Page 73

Agenda Item 8

mailto:david.stanley@stroud.gov.uk


Background 
1. The Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool (GBRP) was set up to maximise the 

business rate income retained within the County and to support economic growth within 
the area of the Local Enterprise Partnership. 

2. In 2013/14, the first year of operation, the Pool reported a surplus of £0.775m of which 
£95k was paid to the Strategic Economic Development Fund supporting the work of the 
Joint Committee.  In 2014/15, the pool suffered a significant loss due to the impact of 
backdated appeals on rateable values and in particular, the successful backdated 
appeal by Virgin Media, the largest valued business in Tewkesbury. The final pool 
position for 2014/15 published a deficit of £2.3m following a safety net payment to 
Tewkesbury of £3.9m.

3. The 2015/16 outturn position for the Pool reported a surplus of £1.129m. This is 
predominantly due to an improved position across the majority pool members (in 
particular Stroud, Gloucester and Cotswold) and the consequential impact of the lower 
pool levy rate 

4. After accounting for a safety net payment to Tewkesbury of £252k, the remaining 
balance of £878k was distributed back to pool members pro-rata to 2014/15’s deficit in 
accordance with the governance arrangements.

5. With the ongoing risk associated with the VM issue and following the Committee’s 
agreement, the Pool was dissolved and a new Pool was formed excluding Tewkesbury 
from April 2016 and will continue in 2017/18.

Forecast for the Pool 2016/17
6. Following the completion of the Government returns which set the level of Business 

Rates income for each authority for the 2016/17 year, it was estimated in January 2016 
that an additional £2.516m will be retained in Gloucestershire as a result of pooling.

7. An update on the 2016/17 forecast was considered by the Gloucestershire CFOs at 
their meeting in September  The latest update (based on information up to the end of 
December 2016) has, in common with previous years, has seen this forecast revised 
down to £2.382m representing a slight increase over the September position of 
£1.983m.

8. Based on the current governance arrangements, the Strategic Economic Development 
Fund would receive around £280k. This assumes that the outturn position is in-line with 
forecasts and these may reduce due to the impact of backdated and future business 
rates appeals.  Any distribution also assumes that remaining losses incurred by pool 
members in 2014/15 (£934k) will be recovered from the pool surplus (as per the 
forecast in paragraph 7) in 2016/17 and whether a Pool Reserve is held.

Forecast for the Pool 2017/18 and 2017 Revaluation
9. The initial forecast for 2017/18 is based on the NNDR1 return to Government which 

sets the level of business rates income for each authority for 2017/18, as estimated in 
January 2017.  This estimates that an additional £4.023m will be retained in 
Gloucestershire.  This is due to changes in pool levy rate (reducing from 8.47% to 
3.43%) as a result of the new valuation list and the subsequent revised tariff and top-up 
figures.

Page 74



10.Whilst the level of additional retained business rates income is encouraging, there is 
considerable risk to business rates income at the start of a new valuation period.  As 
members may recall, new rateable values come into force on 01 April 2017, with 
significant changes to individual business rates bills as a result.  As this report has been 
drafted prior to the Budget on 08 March 2017, there is some uncertainty whether the 
government may take steps to address some of the concerns raised by business over 
the last few weeks and whether this will impact on the level of retained business rates.

11. It is likely that there will be significant appeals against the new valuations and we will 
need to see how these affect the level of retained business rates income over time.

12.Members may be aware that NHS Trusts are continuing to look to be classified as 
charitable bodies and therefore qualify for mandatory charitable business rates relief of 
80% of their business rates.  This issue has recently come to the fore again, with 
several local authorities receiving correspondence from agents acting on behalf of NHS 
Trusts.  In the event they are successful with this application, it would have a significant 
impact on the pool in future years.

13.Therefore, the estimate of £4.023m highlighted in paragraph 9 should be viewed in light 
of the risks outlined above.

Strategic Economic Development Fund 
14. The Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool (GBRP) was set up to maximise the business rate 

income retained within the County and to support economic growth within the area of the Local 
Enterprise Partnership. 2013/14 was the first year of operation of the Pool, and funds were paid 
into the Strategic Economic Development Fund, supporting the work of the Joint Committee.

15.Some initial discussions about future allocation of the funds to support specific 
economic growth activities have taken place, and there are two emerging proposals 
that, once fully developed, will require further consideration by the Committee:-

16.LEP Core Funding 
The LEP benefits from £500k of core funding each year. £250k of this is made available 
by the Government but to secure it requires equivalent match funding from the locality. 
For the last 4 years the County Council has been the sole funder. Having provided £1m 
of 'set up' support for the LEP, the County Council intends to discontinue this funding 
from April 2018 on the basis that a variety of local partners have and are now 
benefitting from the activities of GFirst LEP, not least in terms of securing £106m of 
Growth Deal money and should therefore be contributing to the on-going costs. One 
option would be for the Joint Committee to consider using SEF to fund fully or partly the 
locality match requirement of £250k.

17.Devolution
Despite the Gloucestershire Devolution Deal not progressing, Leadership 
Gloucestershire has indicated that it wishes to see aspects of the original planning, 
housing and infrastructure proposition delivered. A key aspect of this is the alignment of 
local plan reviews and a review based on a single evidence base completed by 2020. 
The Joint Committee may wish to contribute resources to this process, for example to 
allow the establishment of jointly delivered housing and employment land studies.

Page 75



18.These proposals will be developed further for formal consideration by the Committee at 
a future meeting.

100% Business Rates Retention
19.The Government responded to the initial consultation on 100% Business Rates 

Retention and issued a further consultation document on the design of the reformed 
business rates system in February 2017.

20.The further consultation document sets out the proposed timeline and considers some 
of the design issues such as reset periods, tier splits and managing appeals risk..  The 
Government have stated that subject to parliamentary approval, their aim is to introduce 
the new system for the 2019/20 financial year.

21.There is likely to be a change in the way Business Rates Pools are designated and 
operate.  The Government’s view on Pooling is that the current approach does not work 
as well as it could, with voluntary pooling incentivising the wrong behaviours (‘gaming’ – 
excluding local authorities from pools due to their perceived high-risk).  The 
Government will look to update the way in which pools are set up and incentivised, with 
the Local Government Finance Bill proposing to provide the Secretary of State 
discretion to designate pools of authorities for the purposes.  Local authorities will 
continue to be encourage to come forward with their own proposals for pooling, but 
there is a risk that authorities will be compelled to pool.

22.Local Growth Zones are being proposed as an incentive to pooling.  Subject to 
parameters set by government, local authorities could establish growth areas that 
would allow authorities to keep a proportion of the growth in business rates income 
from that area outside of the rates retention system for a specified number of years.

23.The Government have also indicated that they would welcome applications from 
councils to participate in the further business rates pilots in 2018/19, in areas without a 
devolution deal, including two-tier council areas.

24.Alongside rates retention the government is also undertaking the Fair Funding Review, 
which will establish the funding baselines under 100% Business Rates Retention.  This 
review will consider a number of issues that will lead to updated needs assessments 
and has the potential to redistribute significant funding across the local government 
sector.

Risk Assessment
25.Some risk remains from the Business Rates Pool should there be significant backdated 

appeals settled.  The issue of NHS Trusts requesting charitable status is the most 
significant financial risk to the pool and pool members.

Officer Advice
26.No officer advice required

Equalities considerations
27.There are no equalities considerations associated with this decision. It is purely a 

financial consideration.

Page 76



Consultation feedback
28.Each of the Business Rates Pool members has been consulted about this report and 

support the recommendation.

Performance Management/follow-up
29.A report on the performance of the Business Rates Pool will be presented to a future 

meeting of the Joint Committee.  Between now and then, Chief Financial Officers will 
keep Chief Executives and Leaders appraised of any developments 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 GFirst LEP Update
	5 Employment and Skills
	ESB and context overview v3
	GLOUCESTERSHIRE LEP AREA SKILLS STATEMENT 2016
	GESB Draft ToR for discussionv3

	6 Government Industrial Strategy
	7 National Infrastructure Assessment Consultation Response
	8 Business Rate Pool

